



QUALITY OF LIFE, CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE AND MORTALITY IN ADVANCED CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

Markus Hakamäki

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA – ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS SARJA – SER. D OSA – TOM. 1681 | MEDICA – ODONTOLOGICA | TURKU 2022





QUALITY OF LIFE, CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE AND MORTALITY IN ADVANCED CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

Markus Hakamäki

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA – ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS SARJA – SER. D OSA – TOM. 1681 | MEDICA – ODONTOLOGICA | TURKU 2022

University of Turku

Faculty of Medicine Department of Internal Medicine Doctoral Programme in Clinical Research

Supervised by

Docent Kaj Metsärinne MD, PhD Kidney Centre Turku University Hospital and University of Turku Turku, Finland Docent Mikko Järvisalo MD, PhD Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Turku University Hospital and University of Turku Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Docent Pauli Karhapää MD, PhD Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Kuopio University Hospital and University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland Docent Fernanda Ortiz MD, PhD Abdominal Center – Nephrology Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Patrik Finne MD, PhD Department of Nephrology University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital Helsinki, Finland

The originality of this publication has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

Cover Image: Jussi Pärkkä

ISBN 978-951-29-9106-8 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-9107-5 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 (Print) ISSN 2343-3213 (Online) Painosalama, Turku, Finland 2022

To Helena and Vilja

UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Faculty of Medicine Department of Internal Medicine MARKUS HAKAMÄKI: Quality of Life, Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease Doctoral Dissertation, 135 pp. Doctoral Programme in Clinical Research December 2022

ABSTRACT

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients suffer from impaired Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL). Impaired HRQoL has important implications for their prognosis. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is common in CKD patients, leading to excess morbidity and mortality in this population. Risk factors unique to the CKD population add to the traditional risk factors. A multi-faceted treatment approach to improve the HRQoL and prognosis of CKD patients is needed. Correctly assessing a patient's prognosis would be helpful in tailoring treatment.

A Chronic Arterial Disease, Quality of Life and Mortality in Chronic Kidney Injury (CADKID) Study enrolled 210 participants with advanced non-dialysis CKD. The cardiovascular system was assessed by exercise test, echocardiography, evaluation of abdominal aortic calcification (AAC) and vascular ultrasound. A wide selection of biomarkers and HRQoL were measured.

HRQoL was associated with cardiac biomarkers, Troponin T (TnT), N-terminal Pro-B-type Natriuretic Peptide (proBNP) and echocardiographic measure of cardiac systolic function, global longitudinal strain (GLS). A measure of the physical aspect of HRQoL, Physical Component Summary, was associated with mortality. In the longitudinal study of HRQoL, kidney transplantation improved kidney disease-specific aspects compared to dialysis.

Cardiovascular determinants of mortality in the CADKID study were TnT, proBNP, serum albumin, AAC, exercise performance and an echocardiographic measure of cardiac diastolic function, E/e'. The incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation in the study cohort were high. Age, elevated TnT and increased left atrial volume index were associated with the incidence of atrial fibrillation.

HRQoL is associated with biochemical and echocardiographic markers of cardiac function. Kidney transplantation is the renal replacement therapy of choice for the eligible CKD patients. Readily available methods investigating cardiovascular health help to determine the prognosis in advanced CKD and thus guide treatment.

KEYWORDS: Chronic Kidney Disease, Quality of Life, Mortality, Cardiovascular Disease, Echocardiography, Ergometry Stress Test, Aortic Calcification, Troponin T, Renal Replacement Therapy, Kidney Transplantation, Atrial Fibrillation, Left Atrial Volume Index TURUN YLIOPISTO Lääketieteellinen tiedekunta Sisätautioppi MARKUS HAKAMÄKI: Elämänlaatu, sydän- ja verisuonitaudit ja kuolleisuus pitkälle edennyttä kroonista munuaistautia sairastavilla Väitöskirja, 135 s. Turun kliininen tohtoriohjelma Joulukuu 2022

TIIVISTELMÄ

Krooninen munuaistauti heikentää elämänlaatua vaikuttaen potilaiden jokapäiväisen elämän lisäksi heidän ennusteeseensa. Sydän- ja verisuonitaudit ovat yleisiä kroonista munuaistautia sairastavilla ja aiheuttavat ylimääräistä kuolleisuutta ja sairastavuutta. Tavanomaisten riskitekijöiden lisäksi krooniseen munuaistautiin liittyvät tekijät lisäävät riskiä. Näiden potilaiden elämänlaadun ja ennusteen parantamiseksi tarvitaan monitahoista hoitostrategiaa. Olisi tärkeää pystyä arvioimaan potilaan ennuste oikein, jotta hoito voitaisiin sovittaa yksilöllisesti.

Krooninen valtimotauti, elämänlaatu ja mortaliteetti vaikeaa munuaisten vajaatoimintaa sairastavilla (CADKID) –tutkimukseen osallistui 210 potilasta, joilla oli pitkälle edennyt krooninen munuaistauti mutta ei vielä dialyysihoitoa tutkimuksen alkaessa. Sydäntä ja verisuonistoa tutkittiin rasituskokeella, ultraäänitutkimuksilla ja vatsa-aortan kalkkiutumisen aste (AAC) arvioitiin. Verikokeita tutkittiin laajalti ja elämänlaatua mitattiin.

Elämänlaatu oli yhteydessä sydänmerkkiaineisiin troponiini T (TnT) ja B-tyypin natriureettisen peptidin esiaste (proBNP) sekä sydämen systolisen toiminnan mittariin, pitkittäissupistuvuuteen (GLS). Elämänlaatumittarin fyysisen osan yhteenvetopisteet olivat yhteydessä kuolleisuuteen. Seurantatutkimuksessa munuaissiirto paransi munuaistautiin liittyvää elämänlaatua merkitsevästi verrattuna dialyysiin.

CADKID-tutkimuksessa kuolleisuutta ennustivat TnT, proBNP, matala albumiini, AAC, suorituskyky rasituskokeessa ja sydämen diastolisen toiminnan mittari, E/e'. Eteisvärinän esiintyvyys ja ilmaantuvuus oli suurta tutkimusaineistossa. Ikä, koholla oleva TnT ja suurentunut sydämen vasemman eteisen tilavuusindeksi olivat yhteydessä eteisvärinän ilmaantuvuuteen.

Elämänlaatu on yhteydessä sydämen toimintaa kuvaaviin merkkiaineisiin ja ultraäänilöydöksiin. Munuaisensiirto on elämänlaadullisesti paras hoitomuoto loppuvaiheen munuaisten vajaatoimintaan. Yleisesti saatavilla olevilla tutkimuksilla voidaan määrittää potilaan ennuste ja ohjata hoitoa.

AVAINSANAT: krooninen munuaistauti, elämänlaatu, kuolleisuus, sydän- ja verisuonitauti, sydämen ultraäänitutkimus, rasituskoe, aortan kalkkiutuminen, troponiini T, munuaiskorvaushoito, munuaisensiirto, eteisvärinä, vasemman eteisen tilavuusindeksi

Table of Contents

Abb	reviat	ions	. 9
List	of Or	ginal Publications	12
1	Intro	duction	13
2	Revi 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4	aw of the Literature	15 15 16 17 19 19 20 20 20 21 22
	2.5	Risk Factors, Pathogenetic Mechanisms and Pathways Associated with Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease	23 23 23 24
	2.6	Treatment	24 25 25 25 26 26 28 28 28
		2.6.3 Renal Replacement Therapy 2.6.3.1 Hemodialysis 2.6.3.2 Peritoneal Dialysis 2.6.3.3 Kidney Transplantation	30 30 30 31 31
	2.7	Study Methods	32

		2.7.1	Serum Biomarkers	. 32 . 32 . 32
		2.1.2	Vascular Ultrasound and Elow mediated Dilatation	33 34
		2.7.3 274	Stress Frometry	. 34
		2.7.7	Echocardiography	35
	28	Qualit	v of Life in Chronic Kidney Disease Patients	
	2.0	281	Definition of Quality of Life	37
		282	Quality of Life Assessment	37
		283	Quality of Life and Stages of CKD	39
		2.8.4	Factors Associated with Impaired HRQoL Among	
			CKD Patients	. 39
			2.8.4.1 Comorbidities	
			2.8.4.2 Demographic and Socioeconomic Factors	40
			2.8.4.3 Biochemical Parameters	.40
		2.8.5	Quality of Life and Renal Replacement Therapy	.41
		2.8.6	Quality of Life. Mortality and CKD Progression	. 42
		2.8.7	Quality of Life. Cardiovascular Events and	
			Hospitalisations	43
		2.8.8	Effect of Exercise Programs on HRQoL	. 44
			5	
3	Aim	s		. 45
4	Mate	erials a	and Methods	. 46
		• • •		
	4.1	Study	Population and Protocol	. 46
	4.1 4.2	Study Asses	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System	. 46
	4.1 4.2	Study Asses 4.2.1	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography	46 46 46
	4.1 4.2	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score	46 46 46 47
	4.1 4.2	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound	46 46 46 47 47
	4.1 4.2 4.3	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters	46 46 46 47 47 48
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment	46 46 47 47 48 48
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods	46 46 47 47 47 48 48 48
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I	46 46 47 47 47 48 48 49 49
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study II	46 46 47 47 47 48 48 48 49 49 49 49
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System. Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score. Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters. y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I. Study II.	46 46 47 47 47 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 49
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System. Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score. Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters. y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I. Study II. Study III.	46 46 47 47 47 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study II Study III Study IV	46 46 47 47 47 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit 5tatist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study I Study II. Study III. Study IV	46 46 47 47 47 47 48 49 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoo	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study I Study II. Study III. Study IV y of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, ardiographic Indices. and Mortality in Advanced CKD	46 46 47 47 47 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoc	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study I Study II Study III Study IV y of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, ardiographic Indices, and Mortality in Advanced CKD	46 46 47 47 48 49 49 49 49 49 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoc (I) 5.1.1	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study I Study II Study II Study IV y of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, ardiographic Indices, and Mortality in Advanced CKD Correlations Between Comorbidities and Kidney	46 46 47 47 48 48 48 49 49 50 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoc (I) 5.1.1	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study I Study II Study III Study IV y of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, cardiographic Indices, and Mortality in Advanced CKD Correlations Between Comorbidities and Kidney Disease-Specific HRQoL Domains	46 46 47 47 47 48 49 49 50 50 52
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoc (I) 5.1.1	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study II Study II Study IV y of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, ardiographic Indices, and Mortality in Advanced CKD Correlations Between Comorbidities and Kidney Disease-Specific HRQoL Domains Correlations Between Demographic, Biochemical,	46 46 47 47 47 48 49 49 50 50 53
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoc (I) 5.1.1	Population and Protocol sment of the Cardiovascular System Stress Echocardiography Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score Vascular Ultrasound emical Parameters y of Life Assessment ical Methods Study I Study II Study II Study IV y of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, ardiographic Indices, and Mortality in Advanced CKD Correlations Between Comorbidities and Kidney Disease-Specific HRQoL Domains Correlations Between Demographic, Biochemical, and Echocardiographic Parameters and Kidney	46 46 47 47 47 48 49 49 50 50 53
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echooc (I) 5.1.1	Population and Protocol	46 46 47 47 48 49 49 49 50 50 52
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoo (I) 5.1.1 5.1.2	Population and Protocol	46 46 47 47 48 47 48 49 49 49 50 50 55 55
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults Qualit Echoot (I) 5.1.1 5.1.2	Population and Protocol	46 46 47 47 48 47 48 49 49 50 50 50
5	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Res 5.1	Study Asses 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 Bioche Qualit Statist 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 ults (I) 5.1.1 5.1.2	Population and Protocol	46 46 47 47 48 49 49 50 50 53 54

	5.2	Evoluti Transit 5.2.1	on of Quality of Life in Advanced CKD Patients tioning to Dialysis and Transplantation (II) Correlations of Change in HRQoL and Mean	. 56
		5.2.2 5 2 3	Laboratory and Echocardiographic Parameters Changes in HRQoL Domains Within RRT Groups Changes in HRQoL Domains Between RRT	. 59 . 59
		5.2.4	Modalities Change in PCS Score, Mortality and Major Adverse	. 60
	53	Cardio	Cardiovascular Events	. 60
	0.0	Chroni	c Kidney Disease (III)	. 61
		5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3	Clinical Course of Participants and Mortality Predictors of Mortality	. 61 . 61 . 61
	5.4	Incider	nce and Prevalence of AF and Its Determinants in ced CKD (IV)	62
		5.4.1	Prevalence of AF	. 63
		5.4.2 5.4.3	Factors Associated with New-Onset AF	. 63 . 63
6	D:			~ 4
U	DISC	ussior	۱	64
U	6.1	Health of Carc	۲ -Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic	64
U	6.1 6.2	Health of Carc Kidney Evoluti Chroni	 Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal 	64 . 64
U	6.1 6.2 6.3	Health of Caro Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac	A -Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD	64 . 64 . 66
U	6.1 6.2 6.3	ussion Health of Caro Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III)	 Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD 	64 . 64 . 66 . 69
U	6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4	ussion Health of Carc Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III) Epiden Factors Fibrilla	 Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD and s Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial tion (IV). 	. 64 . 66 . 69 . 72
U	 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 	ussion Health of Carc Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III) Epiden Factors Fibrilla Limitat	Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD niology of Atrial Fibrillation in Advanced CKD and s Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial tion (IV)	. 64 . 66 . 69 . 72 . 74
7	 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 Sum 	ussion Health of Carc Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III) Factors Fibrilla Limitat	Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD niology of Atrial Fibrillation in Advanced CKD and s Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial tion (IV) ions and Strengths of the Study	64 . 64 . 66 . 69 . 72 . 74 77
7 Ackr	6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 Sum	ussion Health of Card Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III) Epiden Factors Fibrilla Limitat	Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD niology of Atrial Fibrillation in Advanced CKD and s Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial tion (IV) ions and Strengths of the Study Conclusions	 64 . 64 . 66 . 69 . 72 . 74 77 78
7 Ackr Refe	6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 Sum nowle	ussion Health of Card Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III) Epiden Factors Fibrilla Limitat mary/(edgemo	Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD niology of Atrial Fibrillation in Advanced CKD and s Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial tion (IV) ions and Strengths of the Study Conclusions	64 . 64 . 66 . 69 . 72 . 74 77 78 80
7 Ackr Refe Origi	6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 Sum nowle rence	ussion Health of Carc Kidney Evoluti Chroni Replac Cardio (III) Factors Fibrilla Limitat mary/C edgemo	 Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers diac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Disease (I) on of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced c Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal cement Therapy (II) vascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD and s Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial tion (IV) conclusions 	 64 . 64 . 66 . 69 . 72 . 74 77 78 80 93

Abbreviations

15D-HRQoL	15-dimensional Health-Related Quality of Life
AAC	Abdominal Aortic Calcification
AASK	African American Study of Kidney Disease and Hypertension
ACCORD	Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study
ACE	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme
ACR	Urine Albumin-to-Creatinine Ratio
AF	Atrial Fibrillation
AMI	Acute Myocardial Infarction
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
APD	Automated Peritoneal Dialysis
ARB	Angiotensin II Receptor Blocker
ARIC	Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood Pressure
CAC	Coronary Artery Calcification
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CADKID	Chronic Arterial Disease, Quality of Life and Mortality in Chronic
	Kidney Injury
CAPD	Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis
CHF	Congestive Heart Failure
cIMT	Carotid Intima-Media Thickness
CKD	Chronic Kidney Disease
CKD-EPI	Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration
CKD-MBD	Chronic Kidney Disease Mineral and Bone Disorder
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CRIC	Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
СТ	Computed Tomography
CV	Cardiovascular
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure

DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial				
DKD	Diabetic Kidney Disease				
DM	Diabetes Mellitus				
DOPPS	Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study				
E/A	Ratio of the Early to Late Ventricular Filling Velocities				
ECG	Electrocardiogram				
EDIC	Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Study				
E/e'	Ratio Between Early Mitral Inflow Velocity and Mitral Annular				
	Early Diastolic Velocity				
eGFR	estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate				
EPO	Erythropoietin				
EQ-5D	EuroQoL-5-Dimension				
ESA	Erythropoiesis-Stimulating Agent				
ESKD	End-Stage Kidney Disease				
FGF23	Fibroblast Growth Factor 23				
fIMT	Femoral Intima-Media Thickness				
FMD	Flow-Mediated Dilatation				
GFR	Glomerular Filtration Rate				
GLP-1	Glucagon-Like Peptide-1				
GLP-1RA	Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist				
GLS	Global Longitudinal Strain				
Hb	Hemoglobin				
HbA1c	Glycated Hemoglobin				
HD	Hemodialysis				
HDF	Hemodiafiltration				
HF	Heart Failure				
HHD	Home Hemodialysis				
HR	Hazard Ratio				
HRQoL	Health-Related Quality of Life				
ICD	Implantable Cardiac Defibrillator				
ICHD	In-Center Hemodialysis				
IL-6	Interleukin-6				
IMT	Intima-Media Thickness				
IQR	Interquartile Range				
KDCS	Kidney Disease Component Summary				
KDIGO	Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes				
KDQOL	Kidney Disease and Quality of Life				
KDQOL-36	Kidney Disease and Quality of Life-36				
KDQOL-SF	Kidney Disease and Quality of Life Short Form				
KTR	Kidney Transplant Recipient				

KTx	Kidney Transplantation
LAVI	Left Atrial Volume Index
LVEDD	Left Ventricular End-Diastolic Diameter
LVEF	Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction
LVH	Left Ventricular Hypertrophy
LVMI	Left Ventricular Mass Index
MACE	Major Adverse Cardiovascular Event
MCID	Minimal Clinically Important Difference
MCS	Mental Component Summary of the Short Form 36
MDRD	Modification of Diet in Renal Disease
MI	Myocardial Infarction
MRA	Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys
OR	Odds Ratio
PAD	Peripheral Artery Disease
PCS	Physical Component Summary of the Short Form 36
PD	Peritoneal Dialysis
PDOPPS	Peritoneal Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study
proBNP	N-terminal Pro-B-type Natriuretic Peptide
PTH	Parathyroid Hormone
QoL	Quality of Life
RAS	Renin-Angiotensin System
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
RRF	Residual Renal Function
RRT	Renal Replacement Therapy
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
SCD	Sudden Cardiac Death
SD	Standard Deviation
SF-12	Short Form 12
SF-36	Short Form 36
SGLT-2	Sodium-Glucose Co-Transporter 2
SGLT-2i	Sodium-Glucose Co-Transporter 2 Inhibitor
SPRINT	Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial
TnT	Troponin T
Wmax	Mean Work Load of the Last Four Minutes of Exercise

List of Original Publications

This dissertation is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Hakamäki M, Lankinen R, Hellman T, Koivuviita N, Pärkkä JP, Saarenhovi M, Metsärinne K & Järvisalo MJ. Quality of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, Echocardiographic Indices, and Mortality in CKD Stage 4-5 Patients Not on Dialysis. *Blood Purif.* 2021;50(3):347-354.
- II Hakamäki M, Järvisalo MJ, Lankinen R, Koivuviita N, Pärkkä JP, Kozak-Barany A, Hellman T & Metsärinne K. Evolution of Quality of Life in Chronic Kidney Disease Stage 4-5 Patients Transitioning to Dialysis and Transplantation. *Nephron.* 2022;146(5):439-448.
- III Lankinen R, Hakamäki M, Metsärinne K, Koivuviita NS, Pärkkä JP, Hellman T, Kartiosuo N, Raitakari OT & Järvisalo MJ. Cardiovascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease. *Am J Nephrol.* 2020;51(9):726-735.
- IV Hakamäki M, Hellman T, Lankinen R, Koivuviita N, Pärkkä J, Kallio P, Kiviniemi T, Airaksinen KEJ, Järvisalo MJ & Metsärinne K. Elevated Troponin T and Enlarged Left Atrium Are Associated with the Incidence of Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with CKD Stage 4-5. *Nephron.* 2021;145(1):71-77.

The original publications have been reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

1 Introduction

Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) is a significant worldwide health burden affecting the life of millions of people every day. Estimates of its prevalence vary between geographical regions, reaching over 15% of the adult population in many developed countries(1) and increasing with age. CKD is often initially asymptomatic, so many affected are unaware of the diagnosis. However, CKD has many important implications for the patients. Cardiovascular (CV) morbidity and mortality are more common than in the general population.(2,3) Furthermore, CKD patients' Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL) is inferior compared to the general population.(4–6)

Diabetes mellitus (DM) and hypertension are common causes of CKD. Obesity can cause CKD, mainly indirectly by causing impaired glucose metabolism and elevated blood pressure. However, these conditions, and other traditional risk factors, such as smoking and hyperlipidemia, offer only a partial explanation of excess cardiovascular disease (CVD)-associated morbidity and mortality among CKD patients.

CV risk factors directly linked to CKD include disturbance of mineral and bone metabolism called Chronic Kidney Disease Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD). Hyperphosphatemia, secondary hyperparathyroidism and associated vascular calcification are important manifestations of CKD-MBD.(7) Contrary to intimal atherosclerosis, the vascular calcification linked to CKD-MBD affects the media layer of the arteries by stiffening the vessels. This results in increased pulse pressure and contributes to development of left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) and diastolic dysfunction of the heart.(8)

Anemia is a frequent finding in advanced CKD. Anemia in CKD is associated with LVH and heart failure as well as mortality.(9) Low-grade inflammation is recognized as a key component contributing to CV morbidity and mortality of CKD patients via a plethora of inflammatory cytokines and other mediators that are also important in the development of protein-energy wasting often encountered in end-stage kidney disease (ESKD).(10)

Through these traditional and CKD-specific risk factors and pathogenetic mechanisms, there is a manifold increase in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality

risks in the CKD population. Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is among the most dramatic manifestations of cardiovascular disease. CKD patients are at an increased risk for SCD that is most often caused by sudden arrhythmias. Pathogenetic mechanisms are thought to be related to structural changes in the heart induced by CKD as well as electrolyte abnormalities, mainly dyskalemias and fluid balance disturbances.(11) The same pathogenetic mechanisms could also lead to increased prevalence of other arrhythmias, such as atrial fibrillation (AF).

The HRQoL of CKD patients has been mainly studied among dialysis patients and in cross-sectional settings. HRQoL is increasingly recognized as an essential measure of quality of care. Measuring HRQoL gives information on patients' functioning in daily life and their symptom burden. Furthermore, HRQoL is associated with hospitalisations and mortality in CKD patients.(12–14)

In the Chronic Arterial Disease, Quality of Life and Mortality in Chronic Kidney Injury (CADKID) study, we prospectively studied 210 CKD patients initially not on dialysis with emphasis on CVD manifestations, quality of life and determinants of mortality. The specific aim of this thesis was to shed light on predialysis patients' quality of life and its evolution as the patients transitioned to dialysis and kidney transplantation (KTx) as well as determinants of mortality in this population. Furthermore, we studied the epidemiology and predictors of AF.

2 Review of the Literature

2.1 Definition and Classification of Chronic Kidney Disease

The commonly used Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) definition characterizes Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) as abnormalities of kidney structure or function, with implications for health, lasting more than three months. CKD is divided into six categories according to glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and three categories according to albuminuria. GFR category G1 indicates normal or high GFR, G2 mildly decreased GFR, whereas G4 indicates severely decreased GFR and G5 indicates kidney failure. The G3 category is divided in two, namely G3a (mildly to moderately decreased GFR) and G3b (moderately to severely decreased GFR). Albuminuria categories A1, A2 and A3 indicate normal to mildly increased, moderately increased and severely increased albuminuria, respectively. Figure 1 shows the KDIGO classification of CKD and its associated risk.

The estimated GFR (eGFR) is used in clinical practice for CKD categorisation or staging. Multiple equations for eGFR calculations have been presented, including the Cockcroft-Gault formula and the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) formula. However, they have been largely replaced by the more accurate Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation, which is also recommended by KDIGO Guideline.(15) In addition to serum creatinine, age, ethnic origin and sex are needed for the eGFR calculation. A new CKD-EPI (2021) equation was introduced in 2021. This equation does not require information on ethnic origin. The American Society of Nephrology and the National Kidney Foundation recommend immediate implementation of the new equation in the United States. Using the equation with both creatinine and Cystatin C as variables further enhances the accuracy of estimating GFR.(16)

Albuminuria is graded preferably by the urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio (ACR) obtained from a morning urine sample.

Prognosis of CKD by CEP				Persistent albuminuria categories Description and range		
				A1	A2	AЗ
14	and all	buminuria categories: KDIGO 2012	Normal to mildly increased	Moderately increased	Severely increased	
				<30 mg/g <3 mg/mmol	30-300 mg/g 3-30 mg/mmol	>300 mg/g >30 mg/mmol
n²)	G1	Normal or high	≥90			
t categories (ml/min per 1.73 וי Description and range	G2	Mildly decreased	60-89			
	G3a	Mildly to moderately decreased	45-59			
	G3b	Moderately to severely decreased	30-44			
	G4	Severely decreased	15-29			
GFF	G5	Kidney failure	<15			

Green: low risk (if no other markers of kidney disease, no CKD); yellow: moderately increased risk; orange: high risk; red, very high risk.

Figure 1. CKD staging by GFR and albuminuria categories and prognosis of CKD. Reprinted from Kidney International 85, Levin A and Stevens PE, Summary of KDIGO 2012 CKD Guideline: behind the scenes, need for guidance, and a framework for moving forward, 49–61, Copyright (2013), with permission from Elsevier

2.2 Epidemiology of Chronic Kidney Disease

CKD is a common worldwide health problem. Its mean global prevalence is estimated to be 13.4%. Its prevalence varies in different geographical regions, being generally higher in developed countries. A meta-analysis estimated a prevalence of 15.45% in North America and as high as 18.4% in Europe, all CKD stages considered, whereas in Africa its prevalence was 8.7%, although fewer data were available from African countries.(1) A cross-sectional analysis of National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) by Coresh et al. observed an increase in prevalence of CKD stages G1 to G4 from 10.0% to 13.1% in the United States in 1999-2004 compared to 1988-1994.(17)

Considerable differences were observed in the prevalence of CKD in different study populations from different countries in the European adult general population. The age- and sex-adjusted prevalence of CKD stages G1-5 was 3.3% in Norway, whereas it was 17.3% in northeast Germany. The adjusted prevalence of CKD stages

G3-5 in the population aged 45-74 years varied from 1.7% in Switzerland to 11.5% in northeast Germany, Finland being in the middle with a 4.5% prevalence in this group.(18)

2.3 Chronic Kidney Disease and Mortality

CKD patients have an increased mortality risk, starting from eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m². Albuminuria increases mortality risk linearly starting from albuminuria levels considered normal. The death risk was inversely associated with eGFR in a large community-based population of over 1.1 million adults. The Hazard Ratio (HR) was 1.2 for those classified by eGFR to CKD stage G3a, 1.8 in stage G3b, 3.2 in stage G4 and the HR was as high as 5.9 in CKD stage G5 not in dialysis. The risk of CV events and hospitalisation followed a similar pattern in this study, i.e., higher HRs were associated with lower eGFRs.(19) In the NHANES II study, the risk of all-cause mortality was 68% higher in those with an eGFR <70 ml/min/1.73 m² compared to those with an eGFR >90 ml/min/1.73 m², whereas the CV mortality risk was 51% higher, respectively.(20) Anavekar et al. reported in 2004 that CKD is an independent predictor of worse outcomes after acute myocardial infarction (AMI). The risk of death and nonfatal adverse cardiovascular outcomes increased; each 10-unit decrease in eGFR below 81 ml/min/1.73 m² was associated with an HR of 1.10 regarding these outcomes.(21)

A collaborative meta-analysis of cohorts representing the general population found a comparable inverse relation between all-cause and CV mortality and eGFR. The risk was significantly increased at eGFR levels of 60 ml/min/1.73 m² and below. Furthermore, a linear association between albuminuria and both all-cause mortality and CV mortality was observed. Strikingly, the mortality risk was already increased within normal range of ACR.(3) Thus, albuminuria seems to be a sensitive measure of mortality risk in CKD patients.

CVD is the most frequent cause of death among CKD patients. Any stage of CKD increased the risk of CV death 100% (HR 2.0) compared to those without CKD in a Taiwanese population cohort of nearly half a million people. The increase was more marked in CKD stages G3b-5, indicating an eGFR <45 ml/min/1.73 m² (HR 3.3-10.3).(22) A retrospective study of a Canadian population-based cohort of more than 47000 adults with an eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m² reported a higher mortality risk, compared to kidney failure requiring renal replacement therapy (RRT), in all age groups.(23) There are mixed results in studies of subjects with severe CKD, although it is clear that the risk of dying, mainly of CV causes, is substantially higher than the risk of kidney failure in people with less severe CKD.(24)

A Canadian study concerning causes of death reported that the most common cause of death in those with no CKD was cancer, whereas those with an eGFR <60

ml/min/1.73 m² died most commonly because of CVD. The proportion of deaths from a cardiovascular cause increased as eGFR decreased. The most common CV cause of death, accounting for 52-58% of CV mortality, was ischemic heart disease regardless of eGFR. The proportion of heart failure and valvular heart disease as CV causes of death increased in the lower eGFR categories, whereas the proportion of cerebrovascular disease diminished. The proportion of cancer, the second-most common cause of death in CKD patients, diminished as eGFR decreased, and the proportion of infection-related deaths increased, respectively.(25)

Cancer was the most common cause of death overall in the Korean Heart Study population of ca. 370000 adults. Approximately 17000 patients were identified as having CKD. Albuminuria was associated with CV mortality and cancer mortality when the effect of albuminuria and GFR on cause of death was studied. Lower GFR was associated with CV deaths and non-CVD/non-cancer deaths. The causes of death associated with CKD in this population were coronary heart disease, infectious diseases, kidney failure and diabetic complications. The novel finding in this study was the association of albuminuria and cancer as a cause of death.(26)

An interesting study from Japan found that in a general-population cohort of 338000 persons with annual health check-ups, a finding of only transiently positive dipstick proteinuria increased the HR of CV death significantly to 1.94 in men and 2.78 in women. Transiently decreased GFR did not affect mortality. The finding highlights the significance of albuminuria, even if only transient, as a marker of increased CV risk.(27)

A study of 45000 hypertensive CKD patients found that both high and low systolic blood pressure (SBP) (<120 mmHg and >150 mmHg) were associated with all-cause and CV mortality. Diastolic blood pressure (DBP) >90 mmHg was associated with CV mortality, whereas DBP <60 mmHg with non-CVD/non-malignancy mortality and all-cause mortality. These findings underscore the role of hypertension as an important factor associated with increased CV mortality in CKD patients. However, low blood pressure (BP) is also associated with excess mortality.(28)

The effect of AF on causes of death was studied in a CKD stage G2-4 population of 62459 patients. 11% of patients had a diagnosis of AF. More than 19000 patients died during a follow-up of 4.1 years. AF was associated with higher all-cause mortality (adjusted HR 1.23). CV mortality was 45% higher and malignancy-related mortality 13% lower. Ischemic heart disease and congestive heart failure (CHF), in addition to stroke, also contributed to excess CV mortality, which seems to be the main driver of excess all-cause mortality in this study.(29) The high mortality risk in the CKD population was further augmented by the presence of AF.

The mortality rate of CKD patients remains high, although its prognosis has improved over the years. The Finnish Registry for Kidney Diseases Annual Report compared patient survival in different periods. In 2000-2004, 74% of Finnish patients were alive 2 years after initiating RRT, while survival had improved to 82% in 2015-2018 despite the fact that the median age of patients initiating RRT was higher in the latter period. The underlying diagnosis leading to CKD affects the prognosis. The highest survival in those initiating RRT in 2014-2018 was observed in those with polycystic kidney disease or glomerulonephritis. Patients with amyloidosis and type 2 diabetes had the highest risk of death.(30)

2.4 Epidemiology of Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease Patients

There are risk factors unique to the CKD population, in addition to traditional cardiovascular risk factors, such as hypertension and hyperlipidemia, that are partly responsible for the high CVD burden among these patients. These CKD-specific risk factors include CKD-MBD, anemia and low-grade inflammation. The consequence of multiple risk factors is that CKD patients are at a risk of acquiring CVD manifestations earlier in life than the general population. The distribution of CVD manifestations differs from the general population. For instance, SCD is, by far, more common among the maintenance dialysis population but also in CKD patients not on dialysis(11) than in the general population.

2.4.1 Heart Failure

The incidence of heart failure (HF) among the CKD population with an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² is markedly higher than that of the non-CKD population. Among nearly 15000 Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study participants, the incidence of HF was three-fold higher in those with an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² than in those with normal kidney function during a mean follow-up of 13.2 years.(31) Bansal et al. found an adjusted risk difference of 2.3 for HF in those with an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² in a pooled analysis of three community-based cohort studies. The risk difference was more marked in males and non-white ethnicities.(32)

2.4.2 Stroke

The risk of stroke in CKD patients is increased compared to the general population. The mechanisms are manifold, including traditional risk factors such as hypertension. However, an independent association of CKD with stroke has been noted in studies. The adjusted HR for stroke was 1.81 in the middle-aged ARIC study population. In those participants with an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² but no anemia, the HR was 1.41, suggesting that CKD-associated anemia contributes to the stroke

risk in this population.(33) The incidence of stroke is even higher in dialysis patients. The adjusted HR for ischemic stroke was approximately 3 for both hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients compared to a matched reference cohort in a Taiwanese study. The HR for hemorrhagic stroke was even higher, 6.8 and 6.2 for HD and PD patients, respectively.(34) A meta-analysis of 21 articles by Lee et al. found a 43% greater risk of future stroke in patients with an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² compared to those with an eGFR >90 ml/min/1.73 m². The risk of incident stroke was not significantly increased in those with an eGFR 60-90 ml/min/1.73 m².(35) Albuminuria is also associated with an increased stroke risk. In a prospective, observational study of 6252 Japanese American men aged 45-69 years, the relative risk of stroke was 2.84 for those with persistent proteinuria in a urine dipstick screening compared to those without proteinuria over a 27-year follow-up.(36) A British population-based prospective cohort study of nearly 24000 subjects aged 40-79 years noted a 49% increased stroke risk in those with moderately increased albuminuria and a 143% increased risk in those with severely increased albuminuria. The mean follow-up was 7.2 years. Strikingly, the risk of stroke already increased in the two highest tertiles of normoalbuminuria.(37)

2.4.3 Peripheral Artery Disease

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) and its consequences, such as lower limb amputations, are notoriously common among dialysis patients. The epidemiology of PAD among CKD patients has been assessed, e.g., in NHANES 1999-2000. The prevalence of PAD among the United States population over 40 years of age was 4.3%, whereas the prevalence was 18.2% in the CKD population as defined by an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m².(38) In another report of the NHANES population, 2229 participants with an available ankle-brachial index (ABI) and serum creatinine were studied. The Odds Ratio (OR) of having ABI <0.9 after adjustment for demographic characteristics and comorbid conditions was 2.5 for those with a decreased eGFR (<60 ml/min/1.73 m²) compared to eGFR >60 ml/min/1.73m².(39) The prevalence of PAD was 4.5% in the whole population in a retrospective cohort study of over 453000 Canadians. 30% of PAD patients had also CKD, whereas 10% of the non-PAD population had CKD.(40)

2.4.4 Coronary Artery Disease

The risk of adverse cardiovascular events rises as eGFR declines with the highest event rates in those with CKD stage G5.(19) The clinical picture of coronary artery disease (CAD) may be modified by kidney disease-specific pathogenetic mechanisms leading to arteriosclerosis in tunica media instead of the typical

atherosclerotic disease of tunica intima. The presence of diabetic and/or uremic neuropathy may also modify the clinical picture of atherosclerotic CAD. Coronary artery calcification diagnosed by computed tomography (CT) was already present in 88% of dialysis patients aged 20-30 years in a study by Goodman et al.(41) An angiographic study of 261 elderly male participants with 83 (31.8%) of the subjects having CKD stage G3-G5 demonstrated an association between CKD and an angiographic finding of significant CAD. Patients with CKD were also more likely to have three-vessel or left main disease.(42)

2.4.5 Atrial Fibrillation

AF is the most common significant cardiac arrhythmia. It is usually classified into four categories. Paroxysmal AF terminates spontaneously within 7 days, whereas persistent AF fails to self-terminate within 7 days. Long-standing AF lasts over 12 months and permanent AF is a permanent condition, and restoring the sinus rhythm is no longer pursued.(43)

The prevalence of AF in the population has been widely studied, but estimates vary substantially and many study populations are affected by selection bias. A Dutch study of more than 6800 inhabitants of a Rotterdam suburb, aged over 55 years, reported a 5.5% prevalence of atrial fibrillation.(44) In Germany, among 8.3 million statutory health insurance fund members who can be regarded as a more truthful representation of the general population, the prevalence of AF was 2.1% and the incidence was 4.1 cases in 1000 person-years. Both the prevalence and the incidence of AF are higher among men than women and increase significantly with age. The prevalence was over 10% in those over 80 years of age in this German study.(45) AF is more common in developed countries, with the highest prevalence in North America. According to the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017, the global prevalence of AF was 482 per 100 000 person-years. Compared to 1990, the number of individuals living with AF roughly doubled in 27 years to 37.6 million.(46)

The relationship between CKD and AF is considered bidirectional. AF is more common among CKD patients, and AF is associated with CKD progression. In the ARIC study cohort of 10328 individuals free of AF, both decreased eGFR and proteinuria were independently associated with higher risk of AF incidence. The highest incidence was observed in those with an eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73 m² and severely increased albuminuria. The HR was 13.1, compared to subjects without albuminuria and a normal eGFR.(47) The prevalence of AF was 21.4% in a retrospective analysis of 1010 consecutive non-dialysis CKD stage G2-5 patients from two community-based hospitals.(48) The REGARDS study of approximately 27000 US adults over 45 years of age reported that the prevalence of AF was 1.0% in those without CKD, increasing with every CKD stage, up to 4.2% in those with

CKD stage G4-5.(49) The Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) Study cohort of 3267 adult participants with a mean eGFR of 44 ml/min/1.73 m² had a high prevalence of AF, 18%. Adjusted models revealed associations of age, male sex, smoking, CHF and a history of CVD with prevalent AF.(50) The prevalence of AF was even higher, 26.5%, in an Austrian cohort of more than 600 HD patients. AF was associated with age, male sex, CHF, dialysis vintage, previous thromboembolism and cancer.(51) The prevalence of AF increased from 3.5% to 10.7% between 1992 and 2006 in American HD population.(52)

A Taiwanese nationwide cohort study analysed the incidence of new-onset AF in over 400 000 subjects. HD patients had 2.42-fold and 1.66-fold incidence of AF compared to healthy controls and non-dialysis CKD patients, respectively. Independent risk factors for occurrence of new-onset AF in dialysis patients were hypertension, CHF, CAD, PAD and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).(53)

A population-based study of 1.4 million individuals with an eGFR <90 ml/min/1.73 m² from Canada examined the associations of adverse CV events, CKD progression and mortality with AF. AF was associated with CHF, AMI, mortality and CKD progression to ESKD.(54) Watanabe et al. studied the relations of AF and CKD in 235818 subjects in a prospective setting in Japan. A previous AF diagnosis was associated with development of CKD, and a decreased baseline eGFR was associated with new-onset AF, suggesting a bidirectional relationship with common pathogenetic mechanisms.(55)

2.4.6 Sudden Cardiac Death

Sudden cardiac death is defined as sudden, unexpected cessation of cardiac activity with hemodynamic collapse resulting in death.(11) Ventricular tachyarrhythmias, often due to CAD, are the most common cause of SCD in the general population.(56) SCD is one of the leading causes of death in the HD population, but non-dialysis CKD is also associated with an increased SCD risk.(11) The mechanism behind SCD in the dialysis population is usually bradyarrhythmia.(57,58) The highest rate of clinically significant arrhythmias in HD patients are observed towards the end of the interdialytic interval and in thrice-weekly dialysis, particularly during the long interdialytic interval.(57)

2.5 Risk Factors, Pathogenetic Mechanisms and Pathways Associated with Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease

Traditional risk factors for CVD, such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, DM and smoking, are common among CKD patients. However, only a part of excess CV morbidity in these patients can be attributed to traditional risk factors. Two kidney-related mechanisms are contributing to CVD in CKD patients. Enzymes, cytokines and hormones released by the kidney in response to kidney injury cause changes in blood vessels. Hemodynamic alterations and mediators associated with CKD add to cardiac damage.(59) Thus, complications of advanced CKD, such as CKD-MBD, anemia and the inflammatory state associated with CKD, contribute to a high CVD burden through various mechanisms.

2.5.1 CKD-MBD and Vascular Calcification

Less phosphorus is excreted and $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase activity in kidney is reduced as kidney function declines. This favours the development of hypocalcemia, which stimulates the release of parathyroid hormone (PTH) from the parathyroid glands. PTH increases $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase activity and bone turnover, leading to correction of the serum calcium level. An increase in PTH favours urinary phosphate excretion. A rise in Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) level is an early alteration in the development of CKD-MBD that favours excretion of phosphate. These compensatory mechanisms fail to secure sufficient excretion of phosphate in advanced CKD, and hyperphosphatemia with secondary hyperparathyroidism is a common finding. In addition to detrimental effects on bone metabolism, termed renal osteodystrophy, vascular and valvular calcification occur.(60)

In cellular level, the smooth muscle cells of the tunica media of blood vessels are affected by calcification. A process similar to bone formation occurs as the phenotype of these cells is altered. This medial vascular calcification results in the vessels' stiffening. Pulse wave velocity and, as a result, cardiac afterload are increased, predisposing to LVH and HF. Coronary artery perfusion is also decreased.(59) Calcification of the media layer is also associated with DM, a common cause of CKD, in addition to CKD-MBD.(8)

2.5.2 Anemia

Anemia in CKD patients is the result of relative erythropoietin (EPO) deficiency. Kidneys are the main source of EPO, so anemia is encountered more frequently in patients with advanced CKD. Three major factors, in addition to relative EPO deficiency, contribute to the development of anemia in CKD. Shortened life span of erythrocytes, inhibitors of erythropoiesis induced by CKD and alterations in iron balance all contribute to low hemoglobin values. Hepcidin, an important regulator of iron homeostasis, is a peptide produced by the liver. Elevated hepcidin levels reduce iron availability in plasma. This normally acts as a defence mechanism against pathogens. However, the inflammatory cytokines present in CKD stimulate a hepcidin expression, contributing to the development of anemia.(61) Anemia in CKD is associated with adverse outcomes. Lower hemoglobin was associated with LVH and HF as well as mortality in a study by Foley et al. of over 430 dialysis patients.(9) Another study found an association between anemia and MI, stroke and all-cause mortality, in diabetic non-dialysis CKD patients.(62) Anemia affects patients' HRQoL, and treatment of anemia with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents (ESAs) is associated with improved HRQoL in most studies.(63–65) Contrary to expectations, ESA treatment showed no benefit in reducing mortality or CV events.(66)

2.5.3 Inflammation

Low-grade inflammation is a component of advanced CKD, especially in dialysis patients. Mechanisms leading to inflammation in CKD patients include not only increased production of cytokines and their decreased clearance but also metabolic acidosis and oxidative stress. Infections contribute to the inflammatory state. Numerous biomarkers of inflammation are elevated in CKD. Of these biomarkers, C-reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) seem to be the best predictors of mortality.(10) Inflammation is also an important mechanism behind protein-energy wasting, a catabolic state often present in advanced CKD and linked to mortality. Both inflammation and malnutrition often contribute to a characteristic low serum albumin level, a strong predictor of mortality in dialysis patients.(67) Inflammation also contributes to the development of anemia in CKD.

2.6 Treatment

CKD treatment can be divided into lifestyle interventions, medical treatment and treatment of ESKD with different RRT methods. Lifestyle interventions and medical treatment aim to prevent or slow the progression of CKD and to prevent the development of comorbidities or relieve their symptoms. Naturally, it is important to discontinue nephrotoxic medications and rule out urinary tract obstruction when CKD is suspected. RRT methods, including hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis and kidney transplantation, are needed as CKD progresses to ESKD.

2.6.1 Lifestyle Interventions

Some data from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) evaluate lifestyle interventions in CKD. However, most data come from observational studies.

Obesity is a well-known risk factor for CKD. An energy-restricted diet and physical activity group in a Spanish trial fared better than the control group. Intervention led to a $0.58 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ smaller annual eGFR decline.(68)

A 2020 Cochrane systematic review summarized 17 RCTs assessing dietary protein intake in non-diabetic CKD patients. Moderate quality evidence supports that very low protein intake in CKD stage G4-5 patients delays progression to ESKD, whereas no such effect was noted in CKD stage G3 patients. However, data were very limited on adverse effects, including malnutrition.(69) Recent observational studies have found an association between plant-derived protein and better preservation of GFR compared to animal-based protein.(70)

Physical activity, as opposed to a sedentary lifestyle, is associated with a lower incidence of CKD, improvement in BP and blood glucose control. Its effect on CKD progression is uncertain.(70)

According to a recent meta-analysis, a higher dietary potassium intake is associated with a lower incidence of CKD and RRT.(71) However, diet restrictions are needed in advanced CKD as part of the management of hyperkalemia and hyperphosphatemia.

Limiting sodium intake is the mainstay of lifestyle modifications in treating hypertension, an important cause of CKD. It is unsurprising that higher sodium intake is associated with incident CKD and the need for RRT. Current or former smokers are also known to have a higher risk of incident CKD and RRT.(71)

2.6.2 Medical Treatment

Medical treatment of CKD has two principal aims - preserving kidney function and reducing comorbidity - particularly cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. The specific medical therapy of an underlying kidney disease, such as glomerulonephritis, offers a chance to preserve kidney function, in addition to the general principles presented here.

2.6.2.1 Antihypertensive Drugs

Higher BP levels are associated with the development of ESKD.(72) Inhibitors of Renin-Angiotensin System (RAS), namely Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and Angiotensin II Receptor Blockers (ARBs) slow the decline of GFR in proteinuric CKD(73,74) and are therefore the first-line treatment for hypertension in these patients. No data exist, in the absence of proteinuria, on the superiority of RAS

inhibitors over other categories of BP medications regarding renal protection.(75) The risk of adverse CV outcomes was reduced by ACE inhibitor therapy as reported in a CKD subgroup analysis in the Heart Outcomes and Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) Study.(76) The 2021 KDIGO Guideline for the Management of Blood Pressure in Chronic Kidney Disease states that the use of RAS inhibitors in CKD patients without proteinuria is reasonable because of this cardiovascular protection.(77)

A SBP goal of <120 mmHg is recommended by the same guideline, based on the results of the Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial (SPRINT) CKD subgroup analysis. Treating to this target reduced all-cause mortality and adverse CV events, whereas no effect on CKD progression was noted when compared to the higher SBP target.(78) There is lack of data on a DBP target. However, the KDIGO Guideline states that it seems reasonable to aim at <80 mmHg in young adults.(77)

2.6.2.2 Lipid-Lowering Agents

Dyslipidemia is common among CKD patients. Statins are the drugs with the most data available on dyslipidemia treatment in the general population and in CKD patients. Ezetimibe has also been studied in combination with statin in studies with CKD patients, whereas fibrates are contraindicated in advanced CKD.

A meta-analysis of 8 trials of statin therapy found a decrease in all-cause mortality, CV mortality and CV events in CKD patients not in dialysis.(79) Three large studies have shown no benefit of statin or statin/ezetimibe therapy in dialysis patients.(80–82) According to the aforementioned meta-analysis, statins have no impact on progression of CKD, but they may reduce proteinuria.(79)

2.6.2.3 Diabetes Medications

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is the leading cause of CKD worldwide. Several studies have shown the benefit of intensive glucose control in preventing microvascular complications. For instance, the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) and subsequent observational Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (EDIC) Study showed that intensive glucose lowering early in the course of the disease is associated with better eGFR in the long term.(83) However, the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) Study demonstrated increased mortality in the group targeting lower glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) targets.(84) The 2020 KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes Management in Chronic Kidney Disease recommends individualized HbA1c targets in the range of <6.5% to <8.0%.(85)

Insulin in its different forms has traditionally been the mainstay of diabetes therapy in patients with advanced CKD. However, the newer agents used to treat hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, the sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists, are increasingly used after encouraging results in many trials.

Over 7000 diabetic patients with a history of CVD received Empagliflozin or a placebo in the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial. Its primary outcome were major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) consisting of CV death, MI or stroke. Empagliflozin reduced the relative risk of the primary outcome by 14%. The relative risk reduction of CV death was as high as 38%.(86) The prespecified secondary outcome in this trial was the incidence or progression of nephropathy. Empagliflozin significantly reduced the occurrence of this outcome, and HR in the empagliflozin group was 0.61.(87)

The renal effect of canagliflozin, another SGLT-2 inhibitor (SGLT-2i), was studied in DKD patients in the CREDENCE trial. The trial was stopped early after recruiting 4401 patients because it was deemed unethical to continue the trial when the canagliflozin group showed a 30% lower relative risk of a primary composite outcome of ESKD, a doubling of creatinine or death from CV or renal causes. The risk of secondary CV outcomes was also reduced by canagliflozin.(88)

GLP-1 receptor agonist (GLP1-RA) injections are used subcutaneously daily or once a week in the case of semaglutide and dulaglutide. They act by stimulating the glucose-dependent release of insulin. They also decrease the secretion of glucagon. Gastric emptying is delayed, which can cause nausea. Weight loss is a desired effect of this category of medications. Liraglutide, semaglutide and dulaglutide studies have shown favourable results regarding both cardiovascular and renal endpoints.(89) According to a 2019 meta-analysis, CV deaths, strokes and myocardial infarctions (MIs) were reduced by 12%, 16% and 9%, respectively. The HR for all-cause mortality was 0.88 and 0.83 for composite kidney outcome. Kidney outcome was mainly driven by a reduction in albuminuria.(90) Of note, the metaanalysis also included exenatide and lixisenatide studies, which were negative regarding cardiovascular protection. However, a 2021 meta-analysis comparing the effects of SGLT-2i and GLP-1RA in CKD patients with eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m², the risk reduction of MACE consisting of CV death, MI and stroke, was only 9% and not statistically significant. The RR for secondary outcome, namely composite kidney outcome, including a decline in kidney function, albuminuria, ESKD and renal or CV death, was 0.86, which was also not statistically significant. Notably, when Exendin-4 analogue (exenatide and lixisenatide) studies and GLP-1 analogue (liraglutide, semaglutide, dulaglutide and albiglutide) studies were analysed separately, the latter showed a significant reduction in MACE, whereas Exendin-4

analogues did not. Overall, SGLT-2i performed better in reducing both MACE and kidney outcomes.(91)

2.6.2.4 SGLT-2 Inhibitors in Non-Diabetic Chronic Kidney Disease

SGLT-2 inhibitors also seem to benefit non-diabetic CKD patients. The results from registration studies of these agents were encouraging, showing large-scale CV protection in diabetics. SGLT-2 have also been studied lately in patients without diabetes with positive results. Renoprotective effects noted now in many studies are believed to be due in part to intraglomerular pressure reduction.(92)

The DAPA-CKD trial is the first SGLT-2i trial published with a significant proportion of participants having non-diabetic CKD. Approximately two thirds of the enrolled participants had type 2 diabetes and a third were non-diabetics. The eGFR of the participants was in the range of 25-75 ml/min/1.73 m² and ACR 200-5000 mg/g. Like CREDENCE, this trial was also stopped early after the data monitoring committee's recommendation. The median follow-up was 2.4 years, and dapagliflozin reduced the primary outcome that was 50% decline in eGFR, ESKD, renal death or CV death (HR 0.61).(93) Trials involving other SGLT-2is in the non-DKD CKD population are ongoing, also including non-proteinuric CKD patients.

After a long wait, a new class of medications benefits a wide population of proteinuric CKD patients, in addition to RAS inhibitors.

2.6.2.5 Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists

The steroidal Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists (MRAs) spironolactone and eplerenone have well-known beneficial effects in CVD, but their use in CKD patients has been limited by the risk of hyperkalemia. Spironolactone and eplerenone have been shown to additionally decrease proteinuria in DKD when used with RAS inhibitors. However, there is no evidence of benefit on hard kidney endpoints.(94) Recent studies with a novel non-steroidal MRA, finerenone, have demonstrated promising results in CKD patients. Finerenone has been beneficial in reducing both CV and kidney endpoints.

The FIDELIO-DKD trial investigated patients with CKD and type 2 diabetes with moderately increased albuminuria and an eGFR between 25-60 ml/min/1.73 m² or severely increased albuminuria and an eGFR between 25-75 ml/min/1.73 m². All patients were on RAS inhibitor therapy. Finerenone reduced the incidence of composite kidney outcome consisting of kidney failure, a sustained decrease of at least 40% in the eGFR from baseline, or death from renal causes, and the HR was 0.82.(95) Compared to FIDELIO, the FIGARO-DKD trial recruited patients with preserved eGFR. The mean eGFR was 68 ml/min/1.73 m² as opposed to 44

ml/min/1.73 m^2 in the previous study. The primary outcome was CV death, MI, stroke or hospitalisation for HF. Finerenone reduced the incidence of primary outcome, and the HR was 0.87. The benefit was mainly driven by hospitalisation for HF component.(96)

Interestingly, a post hoc analysis of FIDELIO-DKD study observed also a reduction of new-onset AF in finerenone group.(97) A secondary analysis of FIGARO-DKD trial showed a 29% reduction in the risk of hospitalisation for HF, while a 14% risk reduction was observed in the FIDELIO-DKD study that recruited patients with more advanced CKD.(98)

2.6.2.6 Metabolic Acidosis, Hyperkalemia and CKD-MBD Management

Metabolic acidosis in CKD occurs when acid production exceeds the net excretion by the kidneys. The prevalence of metabolic acidosis among CKD patients increases as eGFR declines. In a study with 3939 CKD stage G2-4 patients, metabolic acidosis was defined as serum bicarbonate <22 mmol/l. The prevalence of metabolic acidosis was 7%, 13% and 37% in CKD stage G2, stage G3 and stage G4, respectively.(99) The treatment of metabolic acidosis benefits CKD patients because it seems to slow eGFR decline according to several single-centre studies.(100) A recent Italian multicentre open label RCT of 740 patients with a diverse etiology of CKD and a mean follow-up of 30 months found that the risk of the doubling of serum creatinine was lower in the sodium bicarbonate-treated group vs. the standard care group, and the HR was as low as 0.36. In those patients who did not reach study endpoints, the annual GFR decline during 3-year follow-up was 1.4 ml/min in the sodium bicarbonate group and 3.4 ml/min in the standard care group.(101) These results further support the treatment of metabolic acidosis in CKD recommended by the 2012 KDIGO Guideline. The KDIGO suggests treating with oral bicarbonate supplementation if serum bicarbonate is less than 22 mmol/l.(15)

Hyperkalemia in CKD is the result of diminished potassium excretion in the kidneys, often further exacerbated by metabolic acidosis and medications that cause hyperkalemia, such as RAS inhibitors. Hyperkalemia is associated with excess mortality. For instance, in a large retrospective cohort, the OR of death within 1 day of a severe measured hyperkalemia of ≥ 6.0 mmol/l differed from 8.0 in CKD stage G5 patients to 19.5 in CKD stage G3 patients.(102) The mainstay of hyperkalemia medical treatment is diuretics that increase potassium excretion through the kidneys. Potassium-binding agents such as sodium polystyrene sulphonate and newer agents, patiromer and sodium zirconium cyclosilicate, bind potassium in the GI tract. Correction of acidosis with sodium bicarbonate may also be useful in correcting hyperkalemia.(103)

CKD-MBD affects patients' bone and blood vessels and may also lead to soft tissue calcifications. CKD-MBD is associated with mortality. Medical treatment consists of phosphate binders, vitamin D and analogues and calcimimetics. Phosphate binders in use include calcium carbonate, lanthanum carbonate and sevelamer. The KDIGO 2017 CKD-MBD Clinical Practice Guideline suggests treating hyperphosphatemia towards the normal range avoiding large doses of calcium. Secondary hyperparathyroidism should be treated with vitamin D analogues or calcimimetics or their combination.(104) Observational data shows association of these treatments with better outcomes but there are no good data from RCTs on hard endpoints.(60)

2.6.3 Renal Replacement Therapy

As individual patients' CKD progress to stage G4-5, it becomes time to consider choosing an RRT method. Conservative management without RRT may be the best option for frail patients with multiple comorbidities and impaired functional capacity. RRT methods include hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis and kidney transplantation. Home dialysis modalities include continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD), automated peritoneal dialysis (APD) and home hemodialysis (HHD) and are usually performed by the patient, whereas, in-center hemodialysis (ICHD) is performed in healthcare facility by healthcare professionals.

2.6.3.1 Hemodialysis

Hemodialysis is a procedure in which a patient's blood and dialysate flow in opposite directions in a dialyser, separated by a semipermeable membrane allowing solute and fluid transfer. Thus, excess water and uremic toxins can be removed from a patient's blood to dialysate before blood returns to the patient.(105) Diffusion down a concentration gradient is the main mechanism of solute removal in hemodialysis. The drag of solutes in removed plasma water, so-called "solvent drag" represents convection, another mechanism of removal of solutes in hemodialysis. Convection is particularly important in hemodiafiltration (HDF), in which large amounts of fluid are removed and convection increases solute removal, especially that of larger solutes. The HDF procedure requires infusion of replacement fluid to the patient since much fluid is removed.(106) Four hours is the typical duration of an ICHD session and is usually performed thrice weekly. HHD allows patients to choose their own dialysis schedule. Dialysis sessions of 1.5-3 hours are performed 5-7 times per week in so-called short daily hemodialysis. Nocturnal HD sessions last 6-8 hours or more and can be done thrice weekly or more often. Most, but not all, studies have found better survival among HHD patients compared to ICHD patients. However, studies comparing these modalities are subject to numerous confounders.(107) A recent Finnish study found survival among patients on HHD similar to those on the APD modality.(108)

2.6.3.2 Peritoneal Dialysis

The human peritoneum serves as a dialysis membrane in PD, allowing passage of excess fluid and uremic toxins from circulation to the peritoneal dialysis solution and out of the body via a PD catheter. CAPD requires a manual exchange of the dialysis solution, usually four times per day, while a cycler machine takes care of the exchanges in APD, usually at night. PD is generally performed by the patient at home, although sometimes assisted PD is needed, in which a family member or a visiting nurse assists the patient.

PD solutions contain glucose as an osmotic agent. Stronger solutions increase ultrafiltration but cause metabolic problems like hyperglycemia, insulin resistance and weight gain. Preservation of residual renal function (RRF), an important prognostic factor for dialysis patients, is better in PD than HD.(109) The survival prognosis of PD and HD patients is generally considered to be similar but, according to some studies, PD might be superior during the first 1-2 years after RRT initiation.(109–113)

2.6.3.3 Kidney Transplantation

Kidney transplantation is the treatment of choice for ESKD. A kidney donated either by a living or deceased donor is placed extraperitoneally to the lower abdomen area in a surgical operation. Circulation is connected to the recipient's iliac vessels and the ureter to the recipient's bladder. Permanent immunosuppressive medication to reduce the risk of rejection is necessary after kidney transplantation.

A study by Wolfe et al. reported that excess mortality associated with the surgical procedure of transplantation and early complications turned to a survival benefit by day 106 after transplantation and that the cumulative likelihood of survival was equal on day 244 after transplantation compared to patients on the transplant waiting list. Overall, those who remained on the transplant waiting list had a 70 % increased annual risk of death compared to kidney transplant recipients.(114)

A systematic review found that, besides mortality, the risk of CV events and infection-related hospitalisations was decreased after transplantation and HRQoL seemed to be better compared to dialysis patients.(115)

2.7 Study Methods

2.7.1 Serum Biomarkers

Several biomarkers are associated with adverse events in CKD patients. Diseases, per se, cause alterations in serum biomarker levels. Reduced, or in some cases, increased renal clearance of biomarkers may contribute to these alterations. For instance, albuminuria may contribute to hypoalbuminemia. A vast array of biomarkers have been linked to prognosis in CKD patients. Selected biomarkers widely used in clinical practice are briefly reviewed herein.

2.7.1.1 Albumin and Biomarkers of Inflammation

Serum albumin is a classic example of a biomarker associated with prognosis in CKD. Malnutrition, in addition to proteinuria, contributes to hypoalbuminemia in advanced CKD and ESKD. Albumin is the strongest predictor of survival in CKD, particularly in dialysis patients.(116) Lower serum albumin was associated with prevalent CVD in a study of over 500 incident dialysis patients. This study showed that IL-6, a biomarker of inflammation, was the only biomarker associated with both prevalent CVD and all-cause mortality.(117) Another marker of inflammation, CRP, was investigated with serum albumin as predictor of mortality in CKD stage G3-4 patients. Both were independent predictors of all-cause mortality, but only CRP predicted CV mortality in this study.(118)

2.7.1.2 Cardiac Biomarkers

Cardiac biomarkers troponin T (TnT) and N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (proBNP) are associated with CV events and all-cause mortality in dialysis patients. This was reported in studies from the early 2000s.(119) Later studies have addressed the association of cardiac biomarkers and adverse outcomes in earlier CKD stages. A 2012 Dutch study of a Caucasian population comprising over 8100 subjects reported that more than 1500 had CKD, mainly stages G1-3. Elevated levels of both TnT and proBNP were independently associated with CV events after adjustment for kidney function and traditional CV risk factors.(120) Hayashi et al. reported an association between proBNP and a composite of fatal and non-fatal CV events in CKD stage G2-5 population with a median eGFR of 20 ml/min/1.73 m².(121) Wang and coworkers reported an association of baseline TnT and proBNP in a CRIC study population of CKD stage G2-4 patients with CV mortality and all-cause mortality. Declining proBNP levels over time were associated with a lower risk of all-cause mortality.(122) A multi-ethnic population of more than 3200 individuals

participating in the Dallas Heart Study were followed up for 12.5 years. A wide selection of biomarkers, including the TnT, proBNP and coronary artery calcification score measured by CT and LVH in cardiac magnetic resonance imaging were studied as prognosticators of all-cause mortality and, secondarily, CV mortality or CV event. Approximately 9 % of the population had CKD, almost exclusively stages G1-3. TnT, proBNP and LVH were at least as good prognosticators of outcomes in the CKD population as in those without CKD. They also provided further prognostic information added to the traditional risk factors.(119) These cardiac biomarkers, in addition to functioning as powerful markers of prognosis in CKD patients, are associated with echocardiographic parameters (123) and the physical aspects of HRQoL.(124) The two highest quartiles of TnT in the CRIC study population were associated with a higher incidence of new-onset AF compared to the lowest quartile over a 7.1 year follow-up despite adjusting for eGFR and AF's traditional risk factors.(125)

2.7.2 Lateral Lumbar Radiograph

Current KDIGO guideline concerning CKD-MBD suggests lateral abdominal radiograph as a reasonable alternative to CT-based imaging methods in detecting vascular calcification in CKD stage G3-5 patients. Coronary Artery Calcification (CAC) scores obtained by CT have a strong correlation to abdominal aortic calcification (AAC) score calculated from a radiograph, the latter imaging being less costly. The patient is at highest CV risk if calcifications are detected.(7)

The method of calculating the AAC score was described by Kauppila et al. in 1997.(126) The same group studied the association of the AAC score in the Framingham Heart Study population and found that the AAC score is an independent predictor of subsequent CV morbidity and mortality.(127) A prospective study by Lewis et al. made a similar observation in material consisting of over 1000 women aged over 70 years.(128)

The presence of abdominal aortic calcifications in CKD patients seems to increase as kidney function declines and is most common in dialysis patients.(129) The progression of AAC measured by the AAC score in the predialysis population seems to be fastest in CKD stages G4-5 compared to earlier stages.(130) The AAC score of 4 or more was associated with CV events in a Dutch study of 280 predialysis patients with a mean eGFR of 36 ml/min.(131) The progression of AAC in the dialysis population was associated with all-cause and CV mortality in a Dutch study of 384 patients.(132) A meta-analysis of AAC in dialysis patients showed an association between the AAC score and CV events as well as the AAC score and mortality.(133)

2.7.3 Vascular Ultrasound and Flow-mediated Dilatation

Measuring the intima-media thickness (IMT) of arteries by ultrasound is a convenient, non-invasive method of assessing subclinical atherosclerosis since thickening of the arterial walls is a sign of atherosclerosis. IMT is commonly measured in the distal common carotid artery.

Carotid IMT (cIMT) is associated with incident cardiovascular events in the general population.(134) Carotid IMT seems to increase early in the course of CKD. According to a French study, cIMT is already increased in stage G2 CKD.(135) A 2020 meta-analysis indicated that cIMT is associated with CV mortality and all-cause mortality in dialysis patients, but data are too scarce to draw conclusions in CKD patients not on dialysis.(136) cIMT was a predictor of CV events in a univariate analysis in a mixed material of patients with CKD stage G4-5 with about one sixth of patients in predialysis care, but the association was not significant after adjustment for confounders.(137) Femoral IMT (fIMT) measured in the femoral artery is less well studied. In one study it was associated with MACE in a two-year follow-up in a non-CKD population free of pre-existing CVD.(138)

Flow-mediated dilatation (FMD) is another indicator of initial atherosclerosis. FMD is measured in a brachial artery. The artery's diameter is recorded at rest and one minute after releasing a cuff that is inflated to a pressure of 250 mmHg for 5 minutes and then released. FMD is expressed as the relative dilatation of a brachial artery after cuff release compared to resting diameter. FMD was lower the more advanced the CKD stage was in diabetic CKD patients without known CAD.(139) According to a study by Yilmaz and coworkers, FMD and eGFR decrease in parallel, and FMD predicts future CV events in non-dialysis CKD patients.(140)

2.7.4 Stress Ergometry

The cardiopulmonary exercise test provides versatile information on patients' cardiac and pulmonary function. Oxygen uptake is one of the principal parameters obtained in this test. Peak oxygen uptake is among the most important determinants of a patient's prognosis. A stress test performed without a gas analyser using a ramp exercise protocol still provides information on exercise capacity and myocardial ischemia.(141)

Impaired physical performance measured by multiple modalities, including a 6minute walking test and handgrip strength, is associated with all-cause mortality in CKD stage G2-4 patients. These patients with mainly moderate CKD performed inferiorly in the testing of the lower extremity function compared to the normative values of the general population.(142) Exercise capacity as measured by a cycle ergometry exercise test is associated with survival in hemodialysis patients.(143) Another study enrolled 240 patients with advanced CKD of whom 2/3 of the patients
were on dialysis and 1/3 were not yet on dialysis. Poor exercise capacity, defined by an anaerobic threshold <40% of predicted peak oxygen uptake, predicted mortality. The survival of patients with poor exercise capacity was better in those receiving a kidney transplant during follow-up compared to those who did not.(144) Maximal oxygen uptake was associated with HRQoL in a study of 143 patients with advanced CKD. 75% of the patients were on dialysis. Maximal oxygen uptake was associated with physical summary score. Thus, a subjective evaluation of physical health is correlated to an objective measure of physical performance in this study.(145) Exercise training of HD patients resulted not only in better exercise capacity but also in improved quality of life (146), underscoring the significance of good physical condition in patients with CKD and stress ergometry as a way to measure physical performance. As seen, most data come from ESKD patients. There is less data on CKD patients not on dialysis.

2.7.5 Echocardiography

Echocardiography is a radiation-free and non-invasive way to investigate the heart's structure and function. CKD's consequences and complications, such as hypervolemia, hypertension and cardiac diseases, cause alterations that can be detected by ultrasound examination of the heart.

LVH is a structural change in the heart that is often detected early in the course of CKD and becomes even more common with advanced CKD. In a study of approximately 3500 CRIC participants without overt HF, about one third of CKD stage G2 patients had LVH, and its prevalence increased with progressing CKD to 75% in CKD stage G4-5 patients. Systolic or diastolic functional changes, as measured by the left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) or ratio of the early to late ventricular filling velocities (E /A), respectively, did not show an association with kidney function after adjustment for confounders.(147) Bansal et al. conducted a longitudinal study of almost 200 CRIC participants who had echocardiographic data available. Advanced CKD patients with an eGFR <20 ml/min/1.73 m² were studied at baseline and again as they advanced to ESKD, defined as HD or PD treatment. 85% of the patients had LVH at baseline, and there was no significant change at ESKD. However, mean LVEF decreased from 53% to 50%, and the proportion of patients with LVEF of 50% or less increased to 48% from 29% at baseline.(148) LVEF is among the most powerful ultrasound measures of the heart, predicting CV morbidity and mortality.(149)

An Australian study of CKD stage G3 patients found that, compared to matched non-CKD controls and healthy subjects, the Left Atrial Volume Index (LAVI) was increased. This early change in cardiac structure in CKD was speculated by the writers to be due to myocardial fibrosis induced by activation of the RAS.

Hypertension, LVH, volume overload and DM are also conditions associated with left atrial enlargement and are common in the CKD population.(150) Left atrial enlargement, as measured by the left atrial diameter, was associated with the incidence of AF in dialysis patients in a retrospective cohort study of about 1000 patients.(151) The left atrial diameter was associated with the presence of AF in a cross-sectional, retrospective setting in non-dialysis CKD patients with a mean eGFR of 34 ml/min/1.73 m².(48)

Speckle tracking echocardiography is a novel technique that allows following the motion of cardiac tissue throughout systole and diastole, tracking acoustic reflections, termed speckles. Global longitudinal strain (GLS) of myocardium, obtained using this technique, is a more subtle indicator of systolic dysfunction of the heart than LVEF. In the setting of preserved LVEF, there still seems to be a worsening of systolic function measured by reduced GLS, another measure that is reduced in parallel with declining kidney function.(149) GLS was an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in a study of 447 CKD patients by Krishnasamy and coworkers.(152)

The same group of investigators observed a somewhat surprising association between GLS and the mental component summary of an HRQoL questionnaire.(153) Data on HRQoL and echocardiographic measures in CKD patients are otherwise scarce. There was no association between HRQoL and any echocardiographic parameter in the aforementioned study observing an association between maximal oxygen uptake and HRQoL.(145)

The diastolic function of the heart is assessed echocardiographically by E/A and the ratio between early mitral inflow velocity and mitral annular early diastolic velocity (E/e'). The prevalence of diastolic dysfunction in CKD is high. The prevalence of diastolic dysfunction was 81% in one study of advanced CKD patients, with about half of the patients already receiving dialysis.(154) An elevated E/e' correlated with CV events and mortality, whereas a decreased LVEF correlated with CV events in a study of 186 CKD stage G3-5 patients.(155)

Echocardiography performed before and after a stress test is called stress echocardiography and is used to diagnose CAD. Ischemia is detected after a stress test as cardiac wall-motion abnormalities, with modest sensitivity in CKD patients. Stress echocardiography is often used as CAD screening in kidney transplant candidates. A stress echocardiography showing no ischemia is associated with a low incidence of CV events.(149)

Valvular calcifications and other forms of vascular calcification are highly prevalent in the CKD population, facilitated by CKD-MBD and other risk factors. Valvular calcifications can also be detected by echocardiography.(156)

2.8 Quality of Life in Chronic Kidney Disease Patients

2.8.1 Definition of Quality of Life

Quality of life (QoL) is defined by the World Health Organization as "an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns". Thus, QoL is a subjective matter, and an individual with serious disabilities may have a good QoL, whereas a person with no disabilities may experience significantly impaired QoL. Health-related quality of life refers to aspects of quality of life affected by an individual's health status; therefore, HRQoL is part of a broader concept of QoL. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention defines HRQoL as "an individual's or group's perceived physical and mental health over time." The social aspects of well-being are also usually assessed when measuring HRQoL. Overall, no single, comprehensive definition of HRQoL has emerged in the literature.(157)

2.8.2 Quality of Life Assessment

Several instruments have been developed for assessment of HRQoL. Among the most popular ones are Short Form 36 (SF-36), EuroQoL-5-dimension (EQ-5D), the World Health Organization Quality of Life-BREF and 15-dimensional Health-related Quality of Life (15D-HRQoL), all of which are generic instruments for measuring HRQoL. Short Form 12 (SF-12) is a 12-item, shortened version of SF-36.(158)

The SF-36 is a 36-item questionnaire comprising eight subdomains that can be summarized in two summary scores: Physical Component Summary (PCS) assessing physical aspects of HRQoL and Mental Component Summary (MCS) assessing mental aspects of HRQoL. EQ-5D comprises five dimensions, which can be summarized into a summary index value. A patient's self-rated health is also measured on a vertical visual analogue scale of 0 - 100.(158)

Kidney disease-specific instruments for measuring HRQoL among the CKD population are scarcer. According to a systematic review, the most widely used and reliable kidney disease-specific HRQoL instruments are two derivatives of Kidney Disease Quality of Life (KDQOL), a 134-item questionnaire: Kidney Disease Quality of Life Short Form (KDQOL-SF) and Kidney Disease Quality of Life-36 (KDQOL-36). The latter is a 36-item instrument comprising three specific dimensions and the generic SF-12 survey. The specific dimensions are Symptoms/Problems, Burden of Kidney Disease and Effects of Kidney Disease. The

SF-12 can be summarized into a physical component summary and a mental component summary. KDQOL-SF is an 80-item measure that includes the SF-36 as a generic core. There are 10 kidney disease-specific domains and 8 generic SF-36 domains, the latter of which can be summarized into PCS and MCS.(159) Table 1 summarizes the interpretation of the kidney disease-specific domains of KDQOL-SF, including the item on Overall Health.

Domain	Meaning of low score	Meaning of high score	
Symptoms/Problems	Extremely bothered by symptoms such as muscle cramps, pruritus, anorexia, and/or dialysis access problems	Not at all bothered	
Effects of Kidney Disease	Extremely bothered by fluid and dietary restriction, by an inability to travel, and dependency on doctors	Not at all bothered	
Burden of Kidney Disease	Extremely bothered by the time consumed by kidney disease, its intrusiveness, and degree of burden on family	Not at all bothered	
Cognitive Function	Affected all of the time by inability to concentrate, confused, with poor reaction time	Not at all bothered	
Quality of Social Interaction	Continual irritation and failure to get along with people with virtual isolation	No problems, socially interactive	
Sexual Function	Experiencing severe problems with enjoyment and arousal	No problems	
Sleep	Very poor sleep with daytime somnolence	No problems with sleep	
Social Support	Very dissatisfied	Satisfied with level of social support	
Overall Health	Rates health as worst possible	Rates health as best possible	

 Table 1.
 Explanation of the scores of the kidney disease-specific domains of KDQOL-SF.

 Modified from Jansz et al. 2018. (181)

ī

i.

2.8.3 Quality of Life and Stages of CKD

CKD patients suffer from impaired HRQoL. Most data comes from dialysis, mainly HD, patients.(4,160,161) The data are more limited on the HRQoL of predialysis CKD patients. However, the HRQoL of predialysis CKD patients also seems to be inferior to that of the general population.(4,162) Most studies have reported lower HRQoL in more advanced CKD, already beginning in CKD stage G2.(13,163,164) A German population-based study, using the generic SF-36 instrument, reported inferior HRQoL beginning from CKD stage G3a. The physical aspects and general health perceptions were affected by CKD, whereas mental health was not.(165) A Report from a Chinese CKD cohort with 1277 CKD stage G3 patients showed that even stage G3a and stage G3b patients had HRQoL differences. CKD stage G3b patients scored significantly lower in PCS, even after adjustment for confounders. The crude scores were lower in stage G3b patients in all domains compared to stage G3a patients.(166)

The lowest quality of life among CKD patients has been reported in those with the lowest eGFR, i.e., dialysis patients.(4) Kidney transplantation, a procedure that leads to a rise in eGFR, seems to offer better HRQoL than dialysis.(167–169) The vast majority of studies concerning HRQoL and CKD stages are cross-sectional in design.

2.8.4 Factors Associated with Impaired HRQoL Among CKD Patients

2.8.4.1 Comorbidities

Comorbidities have a profound effect on CKD patients' HRQoL. Several studies have identified an association between CVD and an impaired quality of life.(5,163,170) More specifically, CHF, CAD and PAD are associated with CKD patients' impaired HRQoL.(14,164) Some studies have linked hypertension (14,170) and COPD (5) to impaired HRQoL. The existing literature reports quite a uniform associated with impaired HRQoL and diabetes(14,162–164,170), and obesity is also associated with lower HRQoL in many studies.(14,171,172) Psychiatric disorders, such as depression, are associated with impaired HRQoL.(5) The use of beta-blockers was associated with inferior HRQoL in one study.(164)

It is clear that the presence of CVD affects the HRQoL of CKD patients, but data on AF's effect are lacking. However, it is known that patients with AF, with no data on CKD status, suffer from impaired HRQoL, and both rate and rhythm-control strategies seem to improve HRQoL. Patients with paroxysmal AF had poorer HRQoL compared to those with permanent AF.(173)

2.8.4.2 Demographic and Socioeconomic Factors

The effect of age on CKD patients' HRQoL is two-fold: The scores of the physical aspects of HRQoL, in many studies, measured for instance by SF-36 PCS, seem to be lower with advancing age, whereas the mental aspects measured, e.g., by SF-36 MCS are actually higher in the elderly.(6,14,164,171,174) This finding probably reflects the adjustment to limitations caused by CKD and a smaller gap between expectations and reality among elderly CKD patients. Female sex is associated with impaired HRQoL compared to males in many studies.(14,164,170) Lower income(174), unemployment(5) and a lower education level are associated with lower HRQoL in some studies.(14) A recent Danish study reported an association with having a partner as opposed to living single having a positive impact on the mental aspect of HRQoL measured by MCS, whereas high educational level was associated with better MCS and PCS scores.(175)

2.8.4.3 Biochemical Parameters

Renal anemia becomes more frequent as eGFR declines. Symptoms of anemia, such as fatigue and impaired physical performance, have an effect on CKD patients' HRQoL. Several studies have shown an association with impaired HRQoL and anemia.(163,164,170) Trials of anemia correction have yielded mixed results. Early treatment of anemia with ESAs to a higher hemoglobin (Hb) target led to improvement of HRQoL in the CREATE trial compared to treatment initiated later to a lower Hb target.(64) Contrary to this finding, in the TREAT trial there was no improvement in HRQoL measured by SF-36 among patients receiving ESAs compared to a placebo group, but there was improvement in the FACT-Fatigue score in those treated with ESAs.(66) HRQoL improved in a similar fashion in the CHOIR trial in those assigned to higher and lower Hb targets, respectively.(65)

CRP is commonly used as a marker of inflammation and/or infection. Low-grade inflammation in CKD patients is often present. Inflammation is believed to be an important factor leading to adverse cardiovascular outcomes, especially so in CKD patients. HRQoL studies have reported an association between CRP and impaired HRQoL in CKD patients.(163,170)

Serum albumin is a strong predictor of CKD patients' prognosis. Its association with HRQoL was examined in a study by Kalantar-Zahed et al. and a strong correlation was found between serum albumin and low PCS and MCS scores in HD patients.(176) Inflammation and, to a lesser degree, diet restrictions may contribute to low albumin levels in CKD.

A recent Korean study of more than 1500 predialysis CKD patients with a mean eGFR of 54 ml/min/1.73 m² found an inverse association between serum adiponectin levels and PCS. According to the authors, this seemingly paradoxical finding may

be explained in CKD patients by a previously found association of adiponectin levels and malnutrition as well as adiponectin levels and anemia.(177)

2.8.5 Quality of Life and Renal Replacement Therapy

HRQoL of CKD patients deteriorates as CKD advances, being the lowest among dialysis patients.(4,163,164) The choice of the RRT modality has an impact on patients' HRQoL. However, the topic is a difficult one to study, due to many confounders.

Conservative kidney treatment and dialysis were compared in a systematic review. Elderly patients predominated in the studies with this setting. Regarding HRQoL, dialysis did not seem to offer benefit, and HRQoL was even better in those treated conservatively in some studies.(178)

Many studies have compared PD and HD patients' HRQoL with mixed results. A recent report from The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS) and The Peritoneal Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (PDOPPS) did not even try to adjust for confounders but found the absolute Burden of Kidney Disease scores to be higher, indicating better HRQoL in PD patients. The main finding in this study was that impaired functional status is significantly associated with worse HRQoL in multiple domains in both PD and HD patients.(179) A metaanalysis by Zazzeroni et al. tried to clarify the differences in HRQoL offered by these modalities, but the results were inconclusive. Of the seven studies included, four tended to be in favour of PD and two claimed HD to be better regarding HRQoL, while one showed both modalities to be equal. There was a statistically significant difference in favour of PD in the Effects of Kidney Disease domain.(180) A recent meta-analysis on the same subject included studies using three varied HRQoL instruments. The results were in favour of PD in the studies using SF-36, EQ-5D and KDQOL instruments. The KDQOL domains Effects of Kidney Disease and Burden of Kidney Disease and also, to a lesser extent, Symptoms/Problems, differed in favour of PD.(158) However, due to the aforementioned problems in comparing these two modalities, the results do not necessarily reflect the true differences in HRQoL induced by the RRT modalities, per se.

Nocturnal HD and kidney transplantation are assumed to be the RRT modalities offering better HRQoL compared to conventional HD. A study by Jansz and coworkers compared HRQoL between these modalities using the KDQOL-SF instrument. 41 kidney transplant recipients and 31 patients on nocturnal home hemodialysis (who were eligible for kidney transplantation) participated. HRQoL was assessed one year after enrollment in the study. After adjustment, Effects of Kidney Disease was the only domain showing a significant difference in HRQoL. The score was 12 points in favour of kidney transplantation in this domain. Burden

of Kidney Disease, Social Support and PCS were numerically higher in transplant patients, but the difference was not statistically significant.(181)

Kidney transplantation is considered the best RRT modality regarding HRQoL and survival. A Spanish study compared the HRQoL of patients before and after transplantation using the Sickness Impact Profile, a generic HRQoL instrument. Transplantation improved HRQoL, especially in men, younger patients and those with fewer comorbidities.(169) A cross-sectional study observed that HRQoL was better in transplant recipients compared to dialysis patients in all eight SF-36 domains.(168) Kidney transplantation significantly improved HRQoL compared to dialysis in the kidney disease-specific domains Effects of Kidney Disease, Burden of Kidney Disease, Symptoms/Problems, Overall Health and Work Status, whereas no clinically significant change in any of the generic SF-36 domains was observed in a Norwegian study with a longitudinal setting. The HRQoL of the transplant recipients remained inferior to that of the general population.(182) Ortiz and coworkers studied the effect of transplantation on HRQoL according to a previous dialysis modality. PD patients seemed to benefit the most in this study. ICHD patients had the lowest baseline HRQoL and experienced an improvement in HRQoL after transplantation. HHD patients' HRQoL was better than other patients' at baseline, and about a quarter of these patients showed no improvement in HRQoL after transplantation.(167)

An interesting study was recently published comparing HRQoL of patients of similar GFR levels with and without a kidney transplant. Transplanted patients had better PCS and MCS than CKD patients without a transplant at similar renal function corresponding to CKD stages G1-3. Kidney disease-specific domains did not differ between the groups. The writers hypothesized that the better HRQoL of the transplanted patients may be related to their improved kidney function and clinical condition after transplantation, whereas CKD patients without a transplant and declining kidney function may have more anxiety concerning the state of their health.(183)

2.8.6 Quality of Life, Mortality and CKD Progression

The association between impaired HRQoL and mortality in CKD was first reported in patients on hemodialysis. Among larger studies is a report from DOPPS of more than 10000 HD patients. The KDQOL-SF was completed at study entry. PCS, MCS and Kidney Disease Component Summary (KDCS) were all inversely correlated to mortality. The lowest quintile of PCS had adjusted risk of death 93% higher than the highest quintile. PCS had the strongest association followed by MCS and KDCS.(12) A recent Swedish study using SF-36 in a dialysis population, most of whom were incident HD patients, found that one standard deviation (SD) increase in PCS was associated with lower all-cause mortality, HR 0.65 after adjustments. The median follow-up was 28 months. MCS was not associated with mortality in this population.(184)

A Taiwanese study of 423 non-dialysis CKD patients found an association between impaired HRQoL measured by the World Health Organization Quality of Life-BREF questionnaire and risk of both ESKD and death. The physical and psychological domains and all total scores were strongly associated with dialysis initiation and all-cause mortality. However, the number of deaths was only four during the median follow-up of 410 days.(13) Porter et al. studied the longitudinal quality of life and its correlations in African American Study of Kidney Disease and Hypertension (AASK) study patients. Lower Mental Health Composite and Physical Health Composite scores were associated with a composite of CV events and CV death as well as a composite of CKD progression and death. However, the results concerning CKD progression were variable with different analytic techniques. This analysis of approximately 1000 patients with a mean eGFR of 48 ml/min/1.73 m² and a follow-up of 8.8-12.2 years found quite similar associations compared to a previous study with a cross-sectional HRQoL evaluation.(185) A total of 3837 participants completed the KDQOL-36 questionnaire at baseline in a CRIC study and Hispanic CRIC study cohorts. Low HRQoL was defined in this study as a score >1 SD below the mean. The mean baseline eGFR was 45 ml/min/ 1.73 m^2 and median follow-up of 6.2 years. After adjustment for confounders, MCS and PCS were independently associated with all-cause mortality, the latter also with incident CV events. Contrary to two previous studies, there was no association between CKD progression and impaired HRQoL in this study.(14) A study by Jesky et al. of 745 advanced CKD patients (median eGFR 26 ml/min/1.73 m²) used EQ-5D as the HRQoL instrument. A lower HRQoL, indicated by the self-care dimension of EQ-5D, and a composite EQ-5D index score were associated with all-cause death. No association between HRQoL and CKD progression was observed in this study either.(186) Overall, data on HRQoL and CKD progression are inconclusive, whereas the association between HRQoL and mortality has been observed in many studies using various HRQoL instruments.

2.8.7 Quality of Life, Cardiovascular Events and Hospitalisations

Worse HRQoL is associated with multiple adverse outcomes besides mortality. In a recent report from a CRIC cohort, the longitudinal scores of KDQOL-36 remained quite stable in the study population, whereas lower baseline scores were characteristic for those who experienced adverse events during a 14-year follow-up. For instance, the PCS score diminished 0.34 points per year, and in Burden of Kidney

Disease, the domain with the most change over years, the score diminished 0.65 points per year. A high risk group with all baseline measures lower than medium and low risk groups also encountered most adverse events, such as CVD, HF, ESKD and death.(187)

An earlier report from a CRIC cohort showed that baseline low PCS was associated with future CV events, highlighting the significance of self-reported physical aspects of HRQoL.(14) A similar finding of an association between physical health composite and CV events was observed in an AASK study of an African American CKD population.(185)

A report of a large HD population from a DOPPS study showed an association of PCS, MCS and KDCS with hospitalisations.(12) Another smaller study with HD patients showed similar results using SF-36 as the HRQoL instrument.(176) Data are scarce on non-dialysis CKD patients' HRQoL and hospitalisations.

2.8.8 Effect of Exercise Programs on HRQoL

Many, but not all, studies involving HD patients have demonstrated benefit in the physical aspects of HRQoL achieved by exercise training programs.(188) A randomized, controlled trial of ca. 100 CKD stage G3-4 patients, randomized the patients for usual care and renal rehabilitation exercise groups for 12 weeks. Physical capacity and HRQoL improved in the latter group. The RAND-36 questionnaire domains with significant improvement were Physical Functioning, Role-Physical, Energy/Fatigue levels and General Health as well as Pain, a component of the Mental Composite score.(189) The generic RAND-36 instrument is similar to the SF-36 questionnaire.

3 Aims

The aims of this thesis were to study the determinants and evolution of quality of life in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease as well as to identify novel factors associated with cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in these patients.

The specific aims were:

- 1. To identify determinants of health-related quality of life and its association with mortality and chronic kidney disease progression in a CKD stage G4-5 population (I)
- 2. To longitudinally evaluate the changes in health-related quality of life as patients advance to different renal replacement therapy methods and the determinants of these changes during follow-up (II)
- 3. To study the cardiovascular system with several methods of imaging and biochemical parameters and determine the association of these measures to mortality during follow-up (III)
- 4. To study the epidemiology and determinants of atrial fibrillation in advanced chronic kidney disease (IV)

4 Materials and Methods

4.1 Study Population and Protocol

The CADKID study recruited 210 patients with an eGFR lower than 30 ml/min/1.73 m². Patients were recruited from the Turku University Hospital Kidney Centre predialysis outpatient clinic starting in August 2013. A minimum target of 200 participants was set. Recruitment was completed in September 2017. All patients were >18 years of age and none were receiving RRT when entering the study. CADKID is a prospective follow-up study assessing cardiovascular disease, mortality and quality of life in advanced CKD. Most participants represented CKD stage G5 at the beginning of the study. Vascular ultrasound, stress ergometry combined with echocardiography (stress echocardiography), lateral lumbar X-ray and HRQoL assessment were performed at baseline and repeated during follow-up. Laboratory parameters were taken at baseline and every three months during follow-up. The researchers extracted the patients' data, including comorbidities (hypertension, DM, AF, CAD, CHF), from the electronic patient records of Turku University Hospital.

4.2 Assessment of the Cardiovascular System

We used a comprehensive set of methods to assess the participants' cardiovascular system, including a stress test and ultrasound of the heart and vasculature as well as a radiograph of the aorta.

4.2.1 Stress Echocardiography

Stress echocardiography was performed at the Department of Clinical Physiology of Turku University Hospital. First, a standardised transthoracic echocardiography was performed at rest, followed by a maximal symptom-limited stress ergometry. An echocardiographic evaluation of wall motion abnormalities then ensued.

A bicycle ergometer was used in maximal stress ergometry. The initial workload and workload increase per minute (10W, 15 W or 20 W) were individualised with the aim to achieve symptom limitation in 6-10 minutes. An initial 30-second warmup period to achieve the target speed of 60 rpm was used, and participants were instructed to maintain the same speed until exhaustion. The mean work load of the last four minutes of exercise (Wmax) and also age, sex and body size-adjusted percentage of expected value (Wmax%) were recorded. Normal values were obtained from the Mini-Suomi study, representing a population of apparently healthy Finnish adults.(190)

The echocardiographic values obtained included measurements of the heart's dimensions as well as the functional parameters measuring the heart's systolic and diastolic functions. The thickness of the posterior wall and septum were measured. The left ventricular end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD) was recorded. The Left Ventricular Mass Index (LVMI) was calculated. LVEF and GLS as measures of systolic function were obtained. Measures of diastolic function, E/A and E/e', were determined. The left atrial dimension and volume were measured and LAVI calculated.

4.2.2 Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score

A lateral lumbar radiograph in the standing position was performed at the study baseline to determine the degree of abdominal aortic calcification. The AAC score was independently calculated by two researchers, and the mean of the scores was used for analyses.

The method described by Kauppila et al. in 1997 was used to calculate the AAC score.(126) The anterior and posterior walls of the aorta on the level of each lumbar vertebra L1 to L4 are graded separately on the scale of 0-3. Thus, the maximum score on the level of each vertebra is 6 (3 anterior + 3 posterior) and the total maximum score is 24. The total score is 0 if there are no calcific deposits on the aorta wall between L1 to L4. Calcific deposit corresponding to less than one third of each segment is graded 1, one third to two thirds 2, and more than two thirds 3. AAC score 0 is considered normal.

4.2.3 Vascular Ultrasound

A Sequoia 512 ultrasound mainframe with a 13.0 MHz linear-array transducer was used to perform vascular ultrasound studies. The scans were stored digitally. One researcher manually analysed the scans.

For intima-media thickness measurements, the left common carotid artery approximately 1 cm proximal to the carotid bulb and the right femoral artery approximately 2 cm proximal to the bifurcation of the deep femoral artery were scanned according to a standardized protocol using B-mode.

Corresponding locations of the left common carotid artery and right femoral artery were used to measure arterial compliance. End-systolic and end-diastolic diameters were recorded. Several scans were stored digitally and analysed later. Results were presented as % / mmHg.

The right brachial artery was used for FMD measurements. The artery diameter was assessed at rest and during reactive hyperaemia after 4.5 minutes of applying a pressure of 250 mmHg by inflating a pneumatic tourniquet. Three measurements at 40 seconds, 60 seconds and 80 seconds after releasing the tourniquet were recorded. The mean of the three measurements at each time point was used to assess the maximum FMD.

4.3 Biochemical Parameters

A comprehensive set of biochemical parameters was collected and analysed at study entry. These included complete blood count, C-reactive protein, sodium, potassium, creatinine, urea, albumin, ionized calcium, phosphate, blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin, capillary blood gas analysis, uric acid, alanine aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase, parathyroid hormone, transferrin saturation, ferritin, TnT and proBNP. Blood lipid levels were taken according to clinical routine. Biochemical analyses were repeated according to clinical routine or at least once in three months during follow-up. The CKD-EPI equation was used to calculate eGFR. The Turku University Hospital Laboratory Division (Tykslab) analysed the blood samples.

4.4 Quality of Life Assessment

HRQoL was assessed by KDQOL-SF version 1.3, a kidney disease-specific HRQoL instrument. The 80-item questionnaire consists of kidney disease-specific items and a generic core of 36 items called SF-36. 80 items are divided into 18 domains, of which 10 are kidney disease-specific and eight are generic (SF-36) domains.

The kidney disease-specific domains are "Symptoms/Problems" consisting of 12 items: "Effects of Kidney Disease" (8 items), "Burden of Kidney Disease" (4 items), "Work status" (2 items), "Cognitive Function" (3 items), "Quality of Social Interaction" (3 items), "Sexual Function" (2 items), "Sleep" (4 items), "Social Support" (2 items) and a single item on overall health on a 0–10 response scale. The generic SF-36 consists of the following domains: "Physical Functioning" (10 items), "Role– Physical" (4 items), "Role – Emotional" (3 items), "Social Functioning" (2 items), "Emotional Well-being" (5 items), "Pain" (2 items), "Energy/Fatigue" (4 items), and "General Health Perceptions" (5 items). Higher scores in all domains reflect a better HRQoL (scale 0–100). PCS and MCS were calculated. The longitudinal change in HRQoL was assessed by subtracting the domain score of the

baseline questionnaire from the score of the follow-up questionnaire. Thus, the subtraction (delta score) was positive if HRQoL regarding the domain in question improved over time.

The KDQOL-SF was self-administered and completed by the participants at study entry and after 2 years of follow-up in this study. The RAND scoring method of the domains was used.

4.5 Statistical Methods

The results are expressed as mean±SD for the normally distributed variables and median (interquartile range [IQR]) for skewed variables.

Statistical analyses were performed using statistical analysis system, SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) in studies I, II and III. IBM SPSS Statistics software version 26.0 was used in study IV. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.5.1 Study I

Distributions of HRQoL parameters were skewed. We calculated Spearman correlation coefficients between variables of interest and HRQoL domains. We were unable to normalize the distribution using standard transformations. Thus, Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparisons between groups. We used multivariable regression models to investigate predictors of PCS. The association between PCS, MCS and kidney disease progression to RRT and mortality was studied using univariable and multivariable Cox proportional hazards models.

4.5.2 Study II

Normality in continuous covariates was tested with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. We used paired T-test for normally distributed variables and Wilcoxon signed-rank test for skewed variables for comparisons between baseline and follow-up HRQoL measures. Differences between the treatment groups in delta HRQoL measures were studied using Kruskal-Wallis test followed by the Dwass, Steel, Critchlow-Fligner method for pairwise comparisons for skewed variables. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for normally distributed variables. We used a post hoc Bonferroni correction for pairwise comparisons.

Spearman's correlation coefficients for the skewed variables and Pearson's correlation coefficients for the normally distributed variables were used to examine univariate associations between delta HRQoL scores and echocardiographic measures as well as biochemical parameters. Variables with significant univariate

associations with the delta HRQoL domains of the highest interest were included as covariates in respective stepwise multivariable regression models in addition to the treatment group variable.

We used means of biochemical parameters and echocardiographic parameters during follow-up for analyses. The measure of change in kidney function was the change in eGFR from the start of the study to follow-up HRQoL assessment. Associations between change in HRQoL and outcomes of mortality and MACE were studied using univariate Cox proportional hazards models. MACE was defined as a composite of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, stroke and coronary artery revascularisation.

4.5.3 Study III

The skewed variables in this study were transformed using the best transformation for each variable to normalize distributions. Log_e-transformation, square root transformation and square transformation were used and normality was tested with Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests and visual examination. For variables with negative values, we used log(X + a + 1) transformation, where X is the value of the variable and a is the minimum value of the variable in the dataset in order to avoid missing values. For the variables that had values between (0, 1), a log(X + 1)transformation was used. There was no suitable transformation for some of the skewed variables.

We used chi-squared test for categorical variables and ANOVA for continuous variables in comparisons between groups. The nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used for skewed variables that could not be transformed. Bonferroni correction was used to account for multiple comparisons. The association between variables of interest and mortality was investigated using univariable and multivariable Cox proportional hazards models. The multivariable Cox models included age, sex, and previous coronary artery disease as covariates, together with a single variable of interest in each respective model.

4.5.4 Study IV

The normality of continuous covariates was tested with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. The unpaired t test or Mann-Whitney test and Pearson's chisquared test or Fisher's exact test were used to compare continuous covariates and categorical covariates in the study subgroups. We reported absolute and relative (percentage) frequencies of categorical covariates. TnT and LAVI were studied as dichotomous variables. Cutoff points were chosen based on clinical relevance and distribution of variables. The risk factors of prior AF were studied using univariate logistic regression models, followed by a multivariable regression model. Variables showing univariate associations at $p \leq 0.01$ significance level were included in the multivariable model. We examined associations between variables of interest and incident AF using univariate and multivariable Cox proportional hazards models. Dichotomous variables, TnT and LAVI, were also studied using a Kaplan-Meier time-to-event analysis with the use of a log-rank test. Only the two variables of interest with the highest hazard ratios and significance in the univariate Cox models (elevated TnT and increased LAVI) were included in the multivariate model, in addition to age, to avoid overfitting. The complete case approach was used for Cox models. As a result of missing LAVI and TnT data, 120 patients were included in the univariate and multivariable Cox models. Little's test was used to ensure that the missing data were missing completely at random.

Table 2 presents the characteristics of the whole study population of 210 patients. All study patients were included in study IV, whereas studies I-III included 100-174 patients. Figure 2 shows the patient selection in studies I-IV.

Age, years	65 (52-73)
Female	73 (35)
Smoking, Current (n=207)	24 (12)
Ex-smoker (n=207)	68 (33)
Hypertension	205 (98)
Diabetes	94 (45)
Diabetes Type 1 / Type 2	34 / 60 (16 / 29)
Coronary Artery Disease	34 (16)
Heart Failure	48 (23)
Atrial Fibrillation	41 (20)
Body Mass Index, kg/m ²	27.7 (24.1-30.7)
Systolic Blood Pressure, mmHg	150 (136-165)
Diastolic Blood Pressure, mmHg	81±14
Hemoglobin, g/l	114±12
C-Reactive Protein, mg/l	2 (1-5)
Creatinine, µmol/l	396 (332-473)
Albumin, g/l	34.7 (32.1-37.7)
Troponin T, ng/l (n=200)	36 (22-66)
proBNP, ng/l (n=197)	1270 (487-2990)
Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score (n=199)	5.5 (1.0-10.5)
Wmax, W (n=176)	83.5±36.5
Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction, % (n=195)	65 (61-69)

 Table 2.
 Baseline characteristics of the CADKID study population (n=210).

Values are expressed as n (%), mean ± standard deviation, or median (interquartile range). proBNP = N-terminal Pro-B-type Natriuretic Peptide, Wmax = Mean Work Load of the Last Four Minutes of Exercise. Previously unpublished.



HRQoL = Health Related Quality of Life, AAC = Abdominal Aortic Calcification Score. Previously unpublished.

Figure 2. Flowchart of studies I-IV.

5.1 Quality of Life Is Associated with Cardiac Biomarkers, Echocardiographic Indices, and Mortality in Advanced CKD

We investigated the association between baseline HRQoL and echocardiographic and biochemical parameters as well as comorbidities in this study. Furthermore, we studied the association between HRQoL and mortality during a median follow-up of 41.3 months (range 1.9-77.8 months). Of the 210 patients enrolled in the CADKID study, baseline HRQoL data was available for 140 patients (67%) who comprised the study population. Patients with no HRQoL data available (n=70) did not differ from the study population in body mass index (BMI), proportion of diabetics or gender distribution. However, they had higher median eGFR (13 vs 12 ml/min/1.73 m²) and were younger (61 vs. 66 years).

5.1.1 Correlations Between Comorbidities and Kidney Disease-Specific HRQoL Domains

Obese patients (BMI \geq 30) had lower scores in the "Symptoms/Problems" (70.5 vs. 79.5, p = 0.007), "Effects of Kidney Disease" (68.8 vs. 84.4, p = 0.0009) and "Burden of Kidney Disease" (62.5 vs. 75.0, p = 0.047) domains. Diabetics showed significantly lower scores in the "Symptoms/Problems" (71.6 vs. 79.5, p = 0.02) and "Effects of Kidney Disease" domains (71.9 vs. 84.4, p = 0.009). Patients with AF scored lower in the same two domains as diabetics ("Symptoms/Problems" 70.3 vs. 79.5, p = 0.005 and "Effects of Kidney Disease" 70.3 vs. 84.4, p = 0.006). We found no association between CHF and kidney disease-specific domains. Table 3 shows scores of selected kidney disease-specific and generic domains according to BMI and comorbidities.

5.1.2 Correlations Between Demographic, Biochemical, and Echocardiographic Parameters and Kidney Disease-Specific HRQoL Domains

The "Symptoms/Problems" score was inversely associated with E/A (r = -0.25, p = 0.006) and "Effects of Kidney Disease" with left ventricular end-diastolic diameter (r = -0.25, p = 0.004) and left ventricular mass index (LVMI) (r = -0.20, p = 0.02). "Burden of Kidney Disease" had an inverse association with plasma phosphate (r = -0.33, p < 0.0001), LVMI (r = -0.29, p = 0.0009), and creatinine (r = -0.32, p < 0.0001) and a positive association with age (r = 0.22, p = 0.01). There was an inverse association between "Sleep" and plasma phosphate (r = -0.21, p = 0.02) and C-reactive protein (r = -0.22, p = 0.01). "Overall Health" showed multiple associations. A positive correlation was observed with age (r = 0.22, p = 0.009) and GLS (r = 0.29, p = 0.007), while an inverse association was observed with BMI (r = -0.20, p = 0.02), plasma phosphate (r = -0.20, p = 0.02), LVMI (r = -0.24, p = 0.007), E/A (r = -0.21, p = 0.03), and E/e' (r = -0.21, p = 0.007). There was no significant associations between ionized calcium, parathyroid hormone or albumin and kidney disease-specific domains. TnT was inversely associated with the item on "Overall Health" (r = -0.19, p = 0.03) and proBNP with "Work Status" (r = -0.23, p = 0.007).

The change in eGFR during follow-up (i.e., between baseline and RRT initiation in those who started dialysis or between baseline and death or end of study in those who did not start RRT), divided by the time interval between eGFR assessments (Δ eGFR) was inversely associated with the "Burden of Kidney Disease" (r = -0.30, p = 0.0004) and "Overall Health" (r = -0.23, p = 0.008). Cox models did not show significant associations between kidney disease-specific domains and progression of CKD or mortality.

5.1.3 The Association of PCS and MCS with Comorbidities, Echocardiographic and Biochemical Parameters

Studied comorbidities AF, CHF, diabetes and obesity were all associated with PCS, whereas no association with MCS was detected. Table 3 shows domain scores according to obesity and comorbidities.

Echocardiographic parameters of diastolic cardiac function E/A and E/e' had an inverse association with PCS (r = -0.20, p = 0.04 and r = -0.27, p = 0.01, respectively), and the parameter measuring systolic function, GLS, was positively associated with PCS (r = 0.38, p = 0.0004). LVEF was not associated with PCS.

TnT, proBNP and CRP were inversely associated with PCS (r = -0.25, p = 0.006, r = -0.30, p = 0.0008 and r = -0.24, p = 0.006, respectively). Hemoglobin and Albumin levels were not associated with PCS.

There was an inverse association between MCS and BMI as well as MCS and phosphate (r = -0.25, p = 0.005 and r = -0.21, p = 0.02, respectively).

In multivariable regression models, adjusted for age, BMI and diabetes, proBNP ($\beta = -0.49 \times 10^{-3}$, p = 0.006), TnT ($\beta = -0.05$, p = 0.02) and GLS ($\beta = 0.73$, p = 0.02) remained independent significant predictors for PCS.

	BMI		Atrial fibrillation	
Domain	<30kg/m ²	≥30kg/m²	No	Yes
	n=99	n=41	n=110	n=30
Symptoms/Problems	79.5 (70.5-90.9)	70.5(56.8-84.1)**	79.5 (70.5-90.9)	70.3(56.8-79.5)**
Effects of Kidney Disease	84.4 (68.8-90.6)	68.8 (59.4-84.4) ‡	84.4 (68.8-90.6)	70.3(59.4-84.4)**
Burden of Kidney Disease	75.0 (50.0-93.8)	62.5 (31.3-81.3) *	68.8 (43.8-87.5)	75.0 (43.8-87.5)
Overall Health	70.0 (50.0-70.0)	50.0 (40.0-70.0) *	60.0 (50.0-70.0)	50.0 (40.0-70.0)
Physical Functioning	75.0 (45.0-85.0)	35.0 (15.0-66.7) ‡	75.0 (37.9-90.0)	32.5 (10.0-60.0)‡
Pain	77.5 (55.0-90.0)	45.0 (22.5-67.5) ‡	67.5 (45.0-90.0)	57.5 (32.5-77.5)*
General Health	43.8 (30.0-55.0)	35.0(20.0-45.0)**	40.0 (30.0-50.0)	37.5 (20.0-50.0)
Energy/Fatigue	57.5 (35.0-75.0)	40.0(30.0-55.0)**	50.0 (32.5-70.0)	40.0 (30.0-60.0)
SF36PCS	38.3±9.9	30.1±10.4‡	37.7±10.5	29.2±8.6‡
SF36MCS	51.2±9.7	47.7±9.6	50.5±9.8	48.8±9.9
	Diabetes		Congestive Heart Failure	
Domain	No	Yes	No	Yes
	n=84	n=56	n=111	n=29
Symptoms/Problems	79.5 (72.6-88.6)	71.6 (61.4-87.5)*	79.5 (68.2-88.6)	75.0 (59.1-93.2)
Effects of Kidney Disease	84.4 (68.8-90.6)	71.9(59.4-87.5)**	81.3 (68.8-90.6)	81.3 (57.8-90.6)
Burden of Kidney Disease	75.0 (50.0-87.5)	68.8 (37.5-87.5)	71.9 (43.8-87.5)	65.6 (40.6-93.8)
Overall Health	60.0 (50.0-70.0)	50.0 (40.0-70.0)	60.0 (50.0-70.0)	60.0 (40.0-70.0)
Physical Functioning	75.0 (43.8-90.0)	50.0 (20.0-75.0)‡	75.0 (40.0-85.0)	35.0 (15.0-60.0)‡
Pain	67.5 (45.0-90.0)	57.5 (45.0-77.5)	67.5 (45.0-90.0)	72.5 (45.0-88.8)
General Health	40.0 (30.0-55.0)	40.0 (27.5-50.0)	40.0 (30.0-50.0)	40.0 (25.0-50.0)
Energy/Fatigue	55.0 (35.0-70.0)	45.0 (30.0-65.0)	50.0 (35.0-65.0)	42.5 (27.5-60.0)
SF36PCS	38.3±10.2	32.0±10.5**	37.0±10.9	31.2±8.6*
SF36MCS	50.2±9.0	50.0±11.0	50.2±9.4	49.8±11.2

Table 3. Quality of life domain scores (0-100) according to BMI group and comorbidities.

Values expressed as median (interquartile range) for skewed variables and mean±standard deviation for normally distributed variables. *, p<0.05; **, p<0.01; ‡, p<0.001. SF36PCS=Short form 36 Physical component summary, SF36MCS=Short form 36 Mental component summary. Modified from Hakamäki et al, 2021 (I).

5.1.4 HRQoL, Mortality and Kidney Disease Progression

At the end of follow-up, 33 (24%) patients had died and 107 (76%) had initiated RRT. Of the 33 patients who died, 73% had started RRT before death. 12 (36%) patients died of CV causes.

PCS remained an independent predictor of all-cause mortality (HR 0.96 [95% CI 0.92–0.99, p = 0.03]) when multivariable Cox proportional hazards model with age, diabetes and BMI as covariates was applied. The association of PCS with CV mortality did not quite reach statistical significance (HR 0.95 [95% CI 0.89–1.00, p = 0.056]), probably due to the small number of events. There was no association between MCS and mortality.

Neither PCS nor MCS was associated with kidney disease progression to initiation of RRT or change in eGFR during follow-up.

5.2 Evolution of Quality of Life in Advanced CKD Patients Transitioning to Dialysis and Transplantation

Study II investigated the change in HRQoL over time, as the majority of participants initiated RRT. One hundred patients with both baseline and follow-up data on HRQoL were included in this study. Figure 3 shows a flowchart of the study; Table 4 shows the study population's baseline characteristics. The median follow-up was 33 months (range 12-85 months). More than two thirds of the participants (68%) were receiving RRT at the time of the follow-up HRQoL assessment. 30 participants (30%) had initiated HD, whereas 19 (19%) had received a kidney transplant and 19 (19%) were on PD. 39 (39%) of the participants were women. The median age was 65 (53-74) years. None were receiving RRT at baseline, while median eGFR was 12 (IQR 11-15) ml/min/1.73 m². Participants receiving transplantation did not differ from those who were on HD, PD or still in predialysis care at the end of follow-up, in prevalence of smoking, AF, CAD, DM or gender distribution. BMI, eGFR and blood pressure were also similar, but those still in predialysis care at the end of follow-up were older than the kidney transplant recipients (KTRs). Baseline HRQoL was similar in all groups, except the SF-36 domain "Physical Functioning" differed significantly in favour of the transplantation group compared to those starting HD during follow-up. The median time to the second HRQoL assessment in KTRs was 40 (35-66) months. This was longer than in those that were on HD (33 [19-42] months, p=0.04), on PD (24 [17-40] months, p=0.01), and not yet receiving RRT (29 [14-40] months, p=0.01). The median time period from transplantation to second HRQoL assessment was 17 (7-40) months in KTRs.



Figure 3. Flowchart of the study. Reprinted with permission from Hakamäki et al, 2022 (II). QoL = Quality of Life, RRT = Renal Replacement Therapy, HD = Hemodialysis, PD = Peritoneal Dialysis.

Table 4.Baseline Characteristics of the study population. Values are expressed as mean ±
standard deviation for normally distributed variables and median (interquartile range) for
skewed variables. Modified from Hakamäki et al, 2022 (II).

	All patients (n=100)			
Age (years)	65 (53-74)			
Smoker [n (%)]	6 (6)			
Atrial Fibrillation [n (%)]	16 (16)			
Coronary Artery Disease [n (%)]	8 (8)			
Diabetes Mellitus [n (%)]	35 (35)			
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	27.8 (24.3-30.6)			
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	148 (135-161)			
Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	80 (71-89)			
Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate (ml/min)	12 (11-15)			
Biochemical Parameters				
Hemoglobin (g/l)	116 (108-123)			
Creatinine (micromol/I)	393±95			
Urea (mmol/l)	21.8±5.7			
Potassium (mmol/l)	4.3±0.45			
Sodium (mmol/I)	142 (140-144)			
Ionized Calcium (mmol/l)	1.21±0.06			
Phosphate (mmol/l)	1.41±0.28			
Plasma Albumin (g/l)	35.5±3.8			
C-reactive protein (mg/l)	2 (1-4)			
Ferritin (microg/l)	250±181			
Transferrin saturation (%)	24.9±8.5			
Parathyroid stimulating hormone (ng/l)	174 (125-287)			
Plasma Glucose (mmol/l)	5.6 (5.2-6.4)			
HbA1c (%)	5.4 (5.0-5.8)			
Total Cholesterol (mmol/l)	4.4 (3.5-4.9)			
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/l)	2.2 (1.6-2.9)			
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	1.5 (1.2-2.1)			
pH	7.39 (7.36-7.42)			
Bicarbonate (mmol/l)	22.6±3.0			
Echocardiographic Parameters				
Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction (%)	65 (61-69)			
Left Ventricular End-Diastolic Diameter (mm)	53.7±5.6			
E/A ratio	0.93±0.34			
Left Ventricular Mass Index (g/m ²)	98 (85-115)			

5.2.1 Correlations of Change in HRQoL and Mean Laboratory and Echocardiographic Parameters

The change from baseline to follow-up HRQoL domain scores (delta domain scores) was examined and the means of biochemical and echocardiographic parameters were used.

Plasma albumin was associated with many delta domain scores, both kidney disease-specific and generic. "Symptoms/Problems", "Effects of Kidney Disease" and "Overall Health" were associated with plasma albumin (r = 0.28, p = 0.005, r = 0.27, p = 0.008 and r = 0.20, p = 0.049, respectively). Delta SF-36 domains "Pain", "General Health" and "Energy/Fatigue" (r = 0.22, p = 0.03, r = 0.23, p = 0.02 and r = 0.24, p = 0.02, respectively) showed similar positive associations.

Total cholesterol was associated with delta scores of "Symptoms/Problems", "Effects of Kidney disease" and "Cognitive Function" (r = 0.30, p = 0.004, r = 0.24, p = 0.03 and r = 0.25, p = 0.02) as well as generic MCS and "Emotional Well-being" (r = 0.26, p = 0.02 and r = 0.22, p = 0.04, respectively) domains. There was an association between triglycerides and delta scores of kidney disease-specific domains "Symptoms/Problems" and "Work Status" (r = 0.22, p = 0.04 and r = 0.29, p = 0.006, respectively). Associations were also found between triglycerides and following delta scores of generic domains: MCS, "Emotional Well-being" and "Energy/Fatigue" (r = 0.32, p = 0.004, r = 0.34, p = 0.001 and r = 0.22, p = 0.04, respectively).

Other associations of interest included the inverse association of CRP with the delta score of the "Overall Health" domain (r = -0.24, p = 0.02). Hemoglobin was positively associated with the delta score of the "Work Status" domain, while urea showed an inverse association (r = 0.24, p = 0.02 and r = -0.20, p = 0.049).

Mean LVEF was associated with the delta score of the "Overall Health" (r = 0.22, p = 0.04) and PCS (r = 0.27, p = 0.02) domains.

Mean serum albumin remained a significant independent explanatory variable for delta scores of "Symptoms/Problems" and "Effects of Kidney Disease" ($\beta = 0.92$, p = 0.03 and $\beta = 1.63$, p = 0.002, respectively) in the multivariable models. The LVEF and delta score of PCS were also significantly associated in the multivariable model $\beta = 0.45$, p = 0.004).

5.2.2 Changes in HRQoL Domains Within RRT Groups

In KTR group, there was improvement in generic "General Health" domain score (baseline: 38.9 ± 15.0 vs. follow-up: 60.8 ± 16.3 , p = 0.0005) and several kidney disease-specific domain scores: "Symptoms/Problems" (baseline: 74.9 ± 16.6 vs. follow-up: 84.0 ± 10.3 , p = 0.01), "Effects of Kidney Disease" (baseline: 74.9 ± 18.7 vs. follow-up: 83.9 ± 16.6 , p = 0.04), "Burden of Kidney Disease" (baseline: 57.9 ± 16.6 vs.

24.6 vs. follow-up: 79.6 ± 17.7 , p = 0.0006) and "Overall Health" (baseline: 60 [30–70] vs. follow-up: 70 [70–80], p = 0.002).

The "Effects of Kidney Disease" score was significantly lower after initiation of dialysis (HD or PD) (baseline: 73.9 ± 19.5 vs. follow-up: 65.6 ± 16.9 , p = 0.02 for HD and baseline: 77.3 ± 14.9 vs. follow-up: 64.2 ± 20.5 , p = 0.04 for PD). A similar change was observed for the "Burden of Kidney Disease" score that was significantly lower after initiation of HD (baseline: 63.3 ± 25.6 vs. follow-up: 40.0 ± 26.4 , p = 0.0001); however, the change was not quite statistically significant after initiation of PD (baseline: 65.3 ± 31.1 vs. follow-up: 46.4 ± 25.8 , p = 0.06). There was no significant change in any of the domains in the group that remained in predialysis care during the entire follow-up. Notably, PCS and MCS did not change significantly in any of the groups.

5.2.3 Changes in HRQoL Domains Between RRT Modalities

The delta scores of the "Burden of Kidney Disease" and "General Health" domains differed significantly for the better in the transplanted group compared to PD (p = 0.0005 and p = 0.03, respectively), HD (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.007, respectively) and those remaining in predialysis care (p = 0.009 and p = 0.003, respectively). The transplant group also showed a significantly better delta score of "Effects of Kidney Disease" compared to both dialysis groups (p = 0.004 for the HD group and p = 0.002 for the PD group). The delta score of "Overall Health" was better among the KTRs than the HD group (p=0.01) or those remaining in predialysis care (p=0.02). The delta "Cognitive Function" in the KTRs was better than the PD group (p=0.008). There were no significant differences in the change of the domain scores between those who started HD and those who started PD. However, those continuing in predialysis care (p=0.03). The delta score of PCS indicated numerically the most change for the better in the KTR group, but the difference compared to other groups was not statistically significant.

5.2.4 Change in PCS Score, Mortality and Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events

There was no significant association between the delta PCS score and major adverse cardiovascular events in the Univariate Cox Proportional Hazards Models (HR = 1.011 [95% CI: 0.967 - 1.057], p = 0.38). Mortality was not associated with the delta PCS score (HR 0.973 [95% CI: 0.916 - 1.034], p = 0.38).

5.3 Cardiovascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease

Study III studied the determinants of mortality. Lateral lumbar radiograph and stress echocardiography were performed at baseline for 174 participants and vascular ultrasound studies for 156 participants. Mean follow-up time was 42 ± 17 months and mean age was 61 ± 14 years. 54 (31%) were women. Median eGFR was 12 (11-15) ml/min/1.73 m². 36 (21%) participants died during follow-up, three of them during the first 365 days of follow-up. Mean time to death was 835 ± 372 days. 21 (12%) patients had a prior CAD diagnosis and 75 (43%) were diabetics. Dialysis was initiated during follow-up for 139 (80%) participants. 59 (34%) were transplanted. Two of the transplanted participants died during follow-up, whereas 28 (78%) of those deceased during follow-up were on dialysis treatment.

5.3.1 Causes of Death

Of the 36 deaths, 17 (47%) were of cardiovascular causes. Malignancy was the second most common cause of death, 8 cases (22%), followed by infectious causes (5 cases, 14%). The remaining deaths were caused by gastrointestinal causes (2 cases, 6%), trauma (2 cases, 6%) and one death each (3%), was attributed to pulmonary and urinary causes.

5.3.2 Clinical Course of Participants and Mortality

There was no significant difference in mortality between the patients who remained in predialysis care during the entire follow-up period and those who started dialysis (PD or HD) (23.5% vs. 32.1%, p=0.36). Patients who started PD and those who started HD had no difference in mortality (27.8% vs. 35.6%, p=0.46). The KTR group had lower mortality, 3.4%. The difference was significant compared to all the other groups.

5.3.3 Predictors of Mortality

The Univariable Cox Proportional Hazards Models identified 15 significant predictors of all-cause mortality. These included the demographics male sex and age, comorbidities diabetes and CAD. The laboratory parameters with significance in univariable models were TnT, proBNP and low albumin, whereas the significant echocardiographic parameters were left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, global longitudinal strain, E/A ratio and E/e' ratio. In addition, AAC, carotid IMT, low diastolic blood pressure and low WMAX were associated with all-cause mortality.

Initiating HD or PD during follow-up was not associated with mortality (HR: 0.62 [95% CI: 0.28-1.38], p = 0.24).

The multivariable models were adjusted for age, sex, and CAD. As we added one variable of interest in each respective model, we recognized six significant predictors of mortality (Table 5). The biochemical parameters TnT (HR: 1.81 [95% CI: 1.16–2.82], p= 0.009), proBNP (HR: 2.07 [95% CI: 1.42–3.01], p<0.001) and albumin (HR: 0.61 [95% CI: 0.41–0.91], p= 0.01) remained significant, as well as the E/e' ratio of echocardiography (HR: 1.73 [95% CI: 1.10–2.72], p= 0.02), the AAC score (HR: 1.75 [95% CI: 1.25–2.43], p<0.001) and the ergometric performance measured by Wmax (HR: 0.40 [95% CI: 0.25–0.65], p<0.001). Carotid IMT lost significance after an outlier value (atherosclerotic plaque) was deleted (HR: 1.23 [95% CI: 0.85–1.78], p = 0.28). When 125 patients with baseline eGFR ≤15 ml/min/1.73 m² were analysed separately, leaving out the CKD stage G4 patients, E/e' ratio lost significance as an independent determinant of mortality in multivariable analysis (HR: 1.56 [95% CI: 0.87–2.78], p = 0.14), while another five variables remained significant.

Variable	HR (95% CI) Adjusted for age, sex and CAD	p-value
Troponin T	1.81 (1.16–2.82)	0.009
proBNP	2.07 (1.42–3.01)	<0.001
Wmax	0.40 (0.25–0.65)	<0.001
AAC score	1.75 (1.25–2.43)	<0.001
E/e' –ratio	1.73 (1.10–2.72)	0.02
Albumin	0.61 (0.41–0.91)	0.01

Table 5. Multivariable predictors of all-cause mortality. Modified from Lankinen et al, 2020 (III).

5.4 Incidence and Prevalence of AF and Its Determinants in Advanced CKD

We investigated the prevalence and incidence of AF in advanced CKD in study IV. Furthermore, factors associated with the incidence of AF were studied. In this study, all 210 participants enrolled in the CADKID study were included in the analyses regarding the epidemiology of AF. The patients' mean age was 62 years and eGFR 12.8 ml/min/1.73 m². 73 (35%) were women. 35 (17%) had a previous diagnosis of CAD and 94 (45%) were diabetics. Transthoracic echocardiography was performed at the beginning of the study.

5.4.1 Prevalence of AF

41 (19.5%) of the 210 participants had AF already at baseline of the study. The mean duration of AF was 76 months. Participants without prevalent AF were younger and had fewer comorbidities than those with an AF diagnosis. CAD and CHF were more common in participants with prior AF. We found an association in the univariate logistic regression models between previous AF and age, CAD, CHD as well as echocardiographic parameters LVEF, left atrial diameter and LAVI. Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed independent associations between prevalent AF and age > 60 years (OR 9.63, [95% CI: 2.17–42.80], p < 0.01) and LAVI > 30 ml/m² (OR 4.98, [95% CI: 1.01–22.73], p = 0.04).

5.4.2 Incidence of AF

Median follow-up time was 46 [IQR 27] months. New-onset AF was diagnosed in 33 of the 169 (19.5%) participants without diagnosis of AF at the beginning of the study. Thus, the AF incidence rate in this study was 69.9 per 1000 person-years. The median follow-up period to AF diagnosis was 11 [IQR 26] months. The majority of the cases (28/33, 85%) were paroxysmal AF. 12 of the 33 participants with new-onset AF were not yet receiving RRT, whereas 11 were on HD, 8 on PD and two had a kidney transplant at the time of diagnosis. The median time to diagnosis of incident AF after dialysis initiation was 8 [IQR 28] months. Only two of the 33 participants with new-onset AF did not initiate dialysis during follow-up. The ten participants who started dialysis after the diagnosis of new-onset AF, the median time from diagnosis of AF to RRT initiation, was 0.5 [IQR 4.5] months.

5.4.3 Factors Associated with New-Onset AF

Participants with new-onset AF were older and had a higher BMI and a higher proportion of prior stroke and PAD. Their LVMI and LAVI were higher, the myocardium of their posterior wall and septum was thicker, their TnT was higher and both the total and the high-density lipoprotein cholesterol was lower.

Age, previous stroke, elevated TnT, proBNP, left atrial diameter and increased LAVI were associated with new-onset AF in the univariate Cox models. Elevated TnT >50 ng/l (HR 3.61, [95% CI: 1.55–8.37], p < 0.01) and increased LAVI >30 mL/m² (HR 4.82, [95% CI: 1.11–21.00], p =0.04) remained as significant independent associations with incident AF.

6 Discussion

6.1 Health-Related Quality of Life Is Associated with Markers of Cardiac Disease and Mortality in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease (I)

Chronic kidney disease, especially in advanced stages, has a marked negative effect on HRQoL.(4) Although HRQoL is a highly subjective perception of an individual's health over time, many studies have shown an association between HRQoL and hard endpoints. Porter et al. found an association between SF-36 composite scores and CKD progression and a composite of CKD progression / Death.(185) Tsai and coworkers reported an association between HRQoL measured by the World Health Organization Quality of Life-BREF and all-cause mortality. HRQoL was also associated with kidney disease progression in this study of non-dialysis CKD patients.(13) An association between HRQoL and mortality was found in a large study using KDQOL-36 as an HRQoL instrument, but no association was found between HRQoL and CKD progression.(14) An association of HRQoL with mortality but not with kidney disease progression was similarly found in a study with EQ-5D HRQoL instrument.(186)

The results of our study further corroborated the association between mortality and HRQoL in CKD patients described in the existing literature. The majority of the earlier studies have been done in the HD population. Most studies with a non-dialysis population have a broader eGFR range. Our results from a cohort of advanced CKD, mainly stage G5 not on dialysis, with a narrow eGFR range, add to the existing evidence. Furthermore, our study used a kidney disease-specific KDQOL-SF instrument, although the association between HRQOL and mortality was found using PCS, a generic summary score.

The association of HRQOL with CKD progression has been investigated in previous studies with mixed results. We did not find an association between PCS and kidney disease progression to RRT initiation in our study. The large study by Porter and coworkers using the KDQOL-based HRQoL instrument similarly found no such association.(14) It seems possible that the choice of HRQoL instrument may influence the detection of this association, although KDQOL-based instruments are

designed for use among CKD patients. The definition of kidney disease progression in the literature is also somewhat variable.

A quite uniform observation in the literature is the association between HRQoL and comorbidities. Mujais et al. noted inferior HRQoL in diabetics and patients with CHF and with previous MI in a population of CKD stage G3-G5 population.(164) A similar observation was made by Aggarwal and coworkers in a cohort of 200 CKD patients representing stages G1-G5. A lower HRQoL was present in diabetics and those with a previous diagnosis of CVD.(170) Our results in a population of mainly CKD stage G5 patients are in line with these results. Of note, AF was associated in our study with inferior HRQoL in both kidney disease-specific domains and the physical component summary PCS.

A novel observation in our study was the association between cardiac biomarkers and HRQoL in advanced CKD. TnT and proBNP were inversely associated with PCS: In multivariable regression analysis, both cardiac biomarkers were still significant as independent predictors for PCS. Prior literature concerning CKD patients has described an association between TnT and two SF-36 domains, namely "Physical Functioning" and "Energy/Fatigue" in new HD patients.(124) No association between cardiac biomarkers and PCS was detected in a small cohort of CKD stage G5 patients, mainly dialysis patients (75%). The only biochemical parameter showing association with PCS in this study was serum albumin.(145) Both TnT and proBNP have previously been linked to CV events and mortality in CKD patients.(191)

There is a scarcity of HRQoL studies with echocardiographic data available in the CKD population. We demonstrated a negative correlation of two echocardiographic parameters of diastolic function, E/A and E/e' with PCS. However, after adjusting for age, BMI and diabetes, E/A lost significance and E/e' (p=0.07) likewise. GLS, a subtle indicator of systolic dysfunction, was independently associated with PCS. There have been no previous reports linking echocardiographic parameters and physical aspects of HRQoL in the non-dialysis population with advanced CKD. A small study of CKD patients with a mean eGFR of 45 ml/min/1.73 m² found a surprising association between GLS and the mental component summary MCS. The authors speculated that this association was due to a lower energy level and less physical activity because of emotional reasons.(153) Our finding of an association between the systolic function of the left ventricle and the physical aspect of HRQoL seems more plausible. Both GLS and E/e' have been linked to mortality in the CKD population.(152,155)

The kidney disease-specific domains of the KDQOL-SF yielded limited results in this study. We found inverse associations with multiple domains and obesity, DM and AF. Of the biochemical parameters, phosphate was inversely associated with four domains, including sleep, which may indicate the role of phosphate as a cause of some uremic symptoms, thus reflecting on the results of the kidney diseasespecific domains. "Overall Health" is a domain consisting of a single item, namely a person's own view of their health on a scale of 0-10. This is one of the kidney disease-specific domains, although one might challenge its nature as a specific domain, because CKD patients usually have comorbidities. "Overall Health" was associated with GLS and inversely associated with E/e', TnT, BMI, LVMI and phosphate. Thus, it seems that a person's own evaluation of the state of their health is linked to many parameters that reflect their cardiac and vascular health.

6.2 Evolution of Health-Related Quality of Life in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease Patients Transitioning to Renal Replacement Therapy (II)

Longitudinal studies of HRQoL in CKD patients are few and mainly consist of HD populations. This is probably due to the more demanding setting requiring effort and time to collect follow-up data compared to cross-sectional studies. It is easier to collect follow-up data in an ICHD setting because patients usually visit a dialysis unit thrice weekly.

Our longitudinal HRQoL study (study II) population was enrolled in the study in the predialysis outpatient clinic, and during follow-up, a majority of the patients started to receive RRT of some modality. The vast majority of eventually transplanted patients started dialysis before receiving a transplant due to the previous national policy. Only 1% of the entire CADKID cohort received a pre-emptive kidney transplantation.

HRQoL was assessed in the beginning of the study in the study II population of 100 patients and was sought to be re-assessed in two years. In reality, the median time to the second HRQoL assessment was 33 months, i.e., longer than intended. This was partly due to the transplantation group in which the interval between HRQoL assessments was longest, with a median of 41 months. However, we wanted to study the transplant group after patients had fully recovered from their transplant operation and become accustomed to life as a transplant patient. The transient adverse effects of high-dose immunosuppressive medication during the early post-transplant period could also have an effect on HRQoL. Thus, the longer period between HRQoL assessments is justifiable.

Our study was unique in that it followed patients from predialysis care to different RRT modalities. Another feature of interest was the echocardiographic data that were available in contrast to the majority of HRQoL studies.

A more detailed review of the kidney-disease specific domains is helpful to put our results into context. "Symptoms/Problems" gives information on kidney diseaserelated symptoms, such as nausea and lack of appetite, muscle pain and cramps, itchy and dry skin, shortness of breath, dizziness, numbness in limbs and tiredness. Additionally, patients on dialysis express their view on dialysis access problems.(192)

"Effects of Kidney Disease" deals with the bother caused by kidney disease in the patients' daily lives. Items include questions about dietary and fluid restriction, ability to work around the house and to travel as well as the effects on the patients' perception of their own appearance and sex life. The stress and worry caused by kidney disease and being dependent on medical personnel's support is also assessed.(192)

"Burden of Kidney Disease" concerns the interference of kidney disease in the patients' daily lives, the frustration it causes and the perception of how much time dealing with kidney disease consumes. The feeling of being a burden to one's own family is also assessed. The "Sleep" domain comprises four items. They assess the overall perception of one's sleep, being able to get enough sleep, having trouble staying awake during the daytime and finally waking up in the middle of the night and having trouble falling asleep again.(192)

The single item on "Overall Health" asks the patients to rate their health on a scale of 0-10, where 0 equals "as bad or worse than being dead" while 10 is "best possible" health.(192) The rest of the kidney disease-specific domains consist of 2-3 items and showed few associations in our study. The kidney disease-specific domains assess the symptoms, inconvenience and stress caused by CKD, so it is sensible that these domains improve after kidney transplantation.

Our main finding was that kidney transplantation improved HRQoL in the kidney disease-specific domains. Compared to the baseline, "Symptoms/Problems", "Effects of Kidney Disease", "Burden of Kidney Disease" and "Overall Health" improved after transplantation. The only generic SF-36 domain that improved was "General Health". A prospective study comparing HRQoL in dialysis and after transplantation previously had quite similar results, showing clinically relevant improvement in the same domains as in our study and "Work Status". The improvement observed in "Work Status" is likely due to the baseline HRQoL assessment during the dialysis phase in the latter study, as opposed to predialysis care in our study. No clinically significant improvement was observed in any of the generic SF-36 domains in the study by von der Lippe et al.(182)

The PCS of the SF-36 surprisingly did not significantly improve, although the numerical values were higher after transplantation. Besides statistical significance, another way to examine the change in quality of life over time is the concept of minimal clinically important difference (MCID). MCID can be defined as "the smallest difference in score in the domain of interest, which patients perceive as beneficial and which would mandate, in the absence of troublesome side effects and

excessive cost, a change in the patient's management".(193) SF-36 is one of the most commonly used HRQoL instruments; thus, the MCID for the domains is well defined. The MCID for CKD patients has not been defined, although it is generally accepted that there is no need to define MCID specifically for different populations, because the previous results among patients with a range of chronic diseases from cancer to chronic lung and heart disease have shown similar results.(194)

The difference in PCS scores of the transplant group at baseline and after transplantation in our study was 3.9, while the MCID in the SF-36 domains is generally 3-5.(194) Thus, there seemed to be meaningful improvement in PCS, although the difference was not statistically significant. The change in PCS did not meet the criteria of MCID in all the other groups.

No significant change in HRQoL was observed in those continuing in predialysis care throughout the follow-up period. This probably reflects the very slow progression of CKD in this group, because the median time between HRQoL assessments in this group was as long as 29 months. The median eGFR of 15 ml/min/1.73 m² in the beginning of the study was higher in this group than in other groups, but the difference was not statistically significant, and the baseline eGFR was still quite low.

Dialysis initiation led to inferior HRQoL in the "Effects of Kidney Disease" and "Burden of Kidney Disease" domains. This could reflect the bother and interference caused by frequent dialysis treatment in daily life. Fluid and diet restrictions become even more necessary as residual kidney function diminishes, restricting patients' lives, and dialysis makes traveling more difficult. However, there was no change in the "Symptoms/Problems" domain after dialysis initiation. Although dialysis treats uremic symptoms effectively, intradialytic blood pressure alterations and interdialytic volume changes might induce other symptoms. Additionally, in clinical practice, dialysis is initiated ideally before overt uremic symptoms develop. Dialysis initiation was associated with worse "Effects of Kidney Disease" and "Burden of Kidney Disease" domain scores in a prospective study by Seow and coworkers of elderly CKD stage G5 population with multiple comorbidities, but there was no significant association with the "Symptoms/Problems" score.(195) This is in line with our results. A small prospective study of 38 patients using the generic SF-36 questionnaire observed no statistically significant change in any of the domains during the first year after dialysis initiation compared to 0-1 months before starting dialysis. Half of the patients started PD and the other half started HD.(196) Similarly, no differences were found in the generic HRQoL domains in our study and the study by Seow et al. Kidney disease-specific HRQoL instruments seem to be able to observe these differences better.

KTx induced significantly better delta domain scores in multiple kidney diseasespecific domains and the "General Health" domain when we analysed the change in HRQoL during follow-up according to the RRT modalities. Notably, the delta "Burden of Kidney Disease" score was stable in the continued predialysis care group, whereas those who initiated HD had significantly more change for the worse. We found no differences in change in HRQoL between those who initiated HD or PD. A 2020 meta-analysis by Chuasuwan et al. found moderately better "Effects of Kidney Disease" and "Burden of Kidney Disease" scores in PD patients compared to HD patients, but the studies included were cross-sectional in nature; thus, selection and confounding biases may affect the results.(158)

Contrary to study I, we found no association between PCS and mortality in this study, which studies the change in PCS over time (delta PCS). Similarly, we found no association between delta PCS and MACE. The change in PCS may, understandably, be small after initiation of dialysis or even KTx, because these RRT methods only affect the kidney function, while comorbidities, for instance, remain the same. Similarly, the change in eGFR during follow-up was not associated with delta PCS, while a positive association was found with the change of the kidney disease-specific domains "Symptoms/Problems", "Effects of Kidney Disease" and "Burden of Kidney Disease".

Mean serum albumin during follow-up was associated with the change of the kidney disease-specific domains "Symptoms/Problems" and "Effects of Kidney Disease" in multivariable models. Serum albumin is strongly associated with mortality in CKD.(116) An association between serum albumin and SF-36 PCS and MCS has been previously described.(176) In addition to cardiac biomarkers in study I, serum albumin seems to be the biomarker reflecting the HRQoL of the CKD patients.

6.3 Cardiovascular Determinants of Mortality in Advanced CKD (III)

In study III, we investigated the cardiovascular parameters in the CADKID study population using a wide variety of methods, including biochemical values, carotid and femoral IMT, AAC score and stress ergometry combined with echocardiography. The association of these measures with mortality during followup was studied.

The main finding of our study was the association between cardiac biomarkers, echocardiographic parameters, AAC score and stress ergometry performance and all-cause mortality. In addition to these markers of cardiovascular health, serum albumin was linked to mortality.

The excess mortality observed in a majority of studies beginning from CKD stage G3 (eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m²) is attributed mostly to cardiovascular causes. The traditional CV risk factors do not wholly explain this observation. For instance,

in studies of dialysis populations an inverse association exists between cholesterol levels and mortality. This is attributed to the inflammation and malnutrition often present in dialysis populations. However, in the absence of inflammation and/or malnutrition as assessed by IL-6, CRP and albumin levels, higher total cholesterol is also associated with higher all-cause mortality in dialysis patients.(197) Still, large-scale studies have failed to show any benefit of cholesterol-lowering therapy in the dialysis population.(80–82) This example of the complex relation of traditional risk factors and the prognosis of CKD patients, in addition to highlighting the role of non-traditional risk factors such as CKD-MBD and inflammation/malnutrition, underscores the importance of identifying the CKD patients at the highest mortality risk. A single intervention, e.g., statin therapy or phosphate lowering, is unlikely to significantly benefit these patients, so a multifaceted approach should be adopted to improve their prognosis.

The cardiac biomarkers, TnT and proBNP, were associated with all-cause mortality in our study, although more than one half of the deceased patients died of other than cardiovascular causes. Thus, cardiovascular comorbidity is also likely to contribute to deaths not attributed to CV causes. Shortly after the publication of our 2020 study, Wang et al. published a report from a CRIC cohort concerning cardiac biomarkers and mortality. Similar to our study, an elevated baseline proBNP and TnT were associated with all-cause mortality in this large cohort of 3664 CKD patients. Larger sample size allowed the CRIC investigators to detect an association between cardiac biomarkers and CV mortality as well. Kidney function in this study cohort was better than in our study, mean eGFR was 44 ml/min/1.73 m² and eGFR of all participants was >20 ml/min/1.73 m² at baseline.(122) Thus, our results and those of the CRIC cohort complement each other. Matsushita and coworkers previously showed in a study of an ARIC cohort that TnT and proBNP predict CVD in CKD patients better than kidney markers, such as cystatin C, and the association was actually stronger in those with CKD than in those without CKD.(198) A recent addition to the literature is a Swedish study in an elderly CKD stage G4-5 population, published in 2022, showing an association between serial TnT measurements and mortality risk in a population with similar kidney function to our study.(199)

Serum albumin is a strong predictor of mortality in CKD, as previously discussed. A recent retrospective study found an inverse association between serum albumin assessed three months before the start of RRT and the mortality rate 1 year after RRT initiation.(200) Our results confirm this association in a prospective setting, further confirming the association of low albumin and mortality in CKD.

The AAC score was independently associated with mortality in our study of CKD stage G4-5 patients. Previous studies have shown that AAC is associated with the combined endpoint of CV events and mortality in patients with earlier stages of CKD (131), and a meta-analysis concluded that the AAC score in dialysis patients is
associated with both all-cause mortality and CV events.(133) A recent publication concerning AAC in a large cohort of Chinese patients representing CKD stages G1-4 found an association between not only the AAC score and all-cause mortality but also CV events.(201) The results of the previous studies and our study show that the AAC score is a significant predictor of mortality across the entire CKD population.

CKD stage G2-5 patients' physical function decreases as kidney function declines.(202) The lower limbs are especially affected. Poorer Timed Up and Go-test result and slower gait speed are associated with mortality in CKD stage G2-4 patients.(142) Ting et al. observed an association between ergometric performance and all-cause mortality in a cohort of over 200 patients waitlisted for KTx. 70% of the patients received dialysis treatment.(144) The same observation was made by Sietsema and coworkers among 175 dialysis patients.(143) Our study contributed to these findings using Wmax as a measure of ergometric performance. We observed an independent association between Wmax and all-cause mortality in patients with advanced non-dialysis CKD.

Regular training improves exercise capacity in non-dialysis CKD and dialysis patients, but the effect on hard outcomes is unknown. The "Physical Functioning" domain of the SF-36 improved in dialysis patients.(146,203) Thus, exercise training programs could offer a way to achieve better HRQoL and possibly achieve even a better prognosis for the patients.

The E/e' measure of echocardiography was associated with mortality in our study. It is a measure of the left ventricular filling pressure and is used as a marker of diastolic dysfunction of the left ventricle. LVH, diabetes and reduced distensibility of the aorta are among the causes of elevated E/e'. The association of E/e' with mortality in both non-dialysis CKD and in the dialysis population has been described previously.(154,155) Our results further corroborate this association.

Femoral IMT was not associated with mortality in our study. We are unaware of any previous studies on the subject in CKD populations. Carotid IMT is a morestudied parameter of subclinical atherosclerosis. CKD stage G3-4 patients' cIMT was higher than that of control patients but lower than that of dialysis patients in a cross-sectional study.(204) cIMT was associated with a composite endpoint of CV events or death in approximately 200 participants in an RRI-CKD study with a mean eGFR of 29 ml/min/1.73 m².(205) cIMT was predictive of a similar endpoint in univariate analysis in a study on advanced CKD patients, most of whom were already on dialysis. However, after adjustments, the association was not significant.(137) Overall, cIMT seems to increase as CKD advances, but the results on the independent association of cIMT and mortality in the CKD population are inconclusive. A meta-analysis on the subject concluded that cIMT is associated with mortality in HD patients, although the finding was only barely significant. In nondialysis patients a meta-analysis was not conducted due to a lack of studies.(136) cIMT appeared to be a significant determinant of mortality in multivariate Cox models in our study, but significance was lost after an outlier caused by an atherosclerotic plaque was removed. This adds to the inconclusive and mixed results in the literature. Brachial artery FMD, a measure of endothelial dysfunction, was not associated with mortality in our study. It is possible that FMD did not have predictive value in our study because we mainly studied CKD stage G5 patients with a long history of kidney disease.

6.4 Epidemiology of Atrial Fibrillation in Advanced CKD and Factors Associated with Incidence and Prevalence of Atrial Fibrillation (IV)

The main finding in study IV was the association of elevated TnT and LAVI with new-onset AF. 19.5 % of the patients (41/210) in the CADKID cohort had a previous diagnosis of AF at the study's baseline. 19.5% of the remaining patients (33 patients) were diagnosed with new-onset AF during a median follow-up of 46 months. Overall, more than one third of the patients were diagnosed with AF at the end of the study. The prevalence of AF was markedly high in this cohort of advanced CKD patients.

The AF incidence rate was 69.9/1000 person-years in our study. The incidence of AF in CKD is known to be higher than in the general population.(206) For instance, compared to a population-based Rotterdam Study cohort, the incidence rate in our study was seven times higher despite the fact that the population in the latter study was older, with a mean age of 69 years.(44)

The prevalence of AF among HD patients was 26.5% in a cross-sectional VIVALDI study, a figure higher than in the beginning but lower than in the end of our study and overall comparable to our study. The prevalence of AF in this study was associated with age, sex, dialysis vintage, cancer and CV comorbidities.(51) Prevalent AF was independently associated with age over 60 years and LAVI >30 ml/m² in our study, whereas associations with CV comorbidities were present in the univariate models. The prevalence of AF in the CRIC study population of predialysis CKD patients (mean eGFR 44 ml/min/1.73 m²) was 18%, and in addition to age, sex and CV comorbidities, smoking was independently associated with AF.(50) Kidney function was poorer and the prevalence of AF higher at baseline in our study.

A retrospective cross-sectional analysis of 1010 CKD patients, representing mainly stage G3-4, had echocardiographic data of approximately 600 patients. The prevalence of AF was 21.2%, similar to our own study. The left atrial diameter was among the significant independent measures associated with prevalent AF in this study.(48) We used LAVI, a more accurate measure of left atrial size. As a novel

finding, increased LAVI was associated with both prior and new-onset AF in our cohort of patients with advanced CKD.

The association of TnT and new-onset AF was assessed in a CRIC cohort of mild-to-moderate CKD. Baseline TnT was associated with new-onset AF during a median follow-up of 7.1 years. The incidence of AF was higher in the two highest quartiles of TnT compared to the lowest quartile.(125) Baseline TnT >50 ng/l was associated with new-onset AF in our study of patients with more advanced CKD. Thus, the association also seems to be accurate in more advanced CKD.

Recognizing the AF risk in CKD patients is important because AF is associated with CV events and mortality as well as kidney disease progression and inferior HRQoL.(54,173) Our study shows that the combination of elevated TnT and increased LAVI is able to recognize many of those patients at risk of developing new-onset AF. Echocardiography and TnT analysis are widely available measures. Our results suggest that measuring LAVI and TnT might be useful in this clinical setting. Echocardiography offers a vast amount of relevant information about patients' cardiac function besides LAVI and is part of routine clinical practice for patients with advanced CKD before initiation of RRT in many centers. Considering this, assessing LAVI and TnT would be easily adopted to practice without significant extra costs.

In addition to the published data, we assessed the predisposing or triggering conditions of AF in our material (Table 6). We found a triggering condition in 67% (22/33) of the new-onset AF cases. 1409 cases of new-onset AF were detected in the Framingham Heart Study. A predisposing factor was found in 31 % of the cases. The most common were cardiothoracic surgery (30%), infection (23%), non-cardiothoracic surgery (20%) and acute myocardial infarction (18%). Thus, half of the cases with a predisposing factor were attributed to surgery.(207) The most common predisposing factor was infection (50% of the cases where a triggering factor was detected) followed by surgery (23 %) and CHF (18 %) in our material on advanced CKD patients. 60% of the cases attributed to surgery were cardiothoracic surgery. Compared to the previous study, the proportion of infections as a triggering factor was higher and the proportion of surgery was lower. This is an interesting observation, because data are scarce on AF triggering factors in the CKD population.

However, the HD procedure is known to be a triggering event for AF. A small study of HD and PD patients with an implantable cardiac defibrillator (ICD) were enrolled. An ICD was implanted without a primary or secondary indication, because the study was designed to evaluate ICDs in the prevention of SCD in dialysis patients. AF episodes were detected using the ICD's remote monitoring function. PD patients experienced fewer episodes of AF, which were not related to weekdays. The frequency of AF episodes in HD patients was three times higher on a dialysis day compared to non-dialysis days, and the risk of AF was 13 times higher during HD

than in the previous 7 hours. Compared to 7 hours after HD, the risk of AF during HD was about twice as high. The onset of AF episodes during the HD procedure increased by the hour, being highest during the last hour of dialysis. Higher ultrafiltration volume and lower dialysate potassium levels were associated with more frequent AF episodes.(208) These findings support the theories of intravascular volume change and change in potassium levels during HD as the factors predisposing to AF episodes. The first detected event of AF in our study was attributed to initiation of HD in 9% of the patients.

New-onset AF cases	Trigger	Care	Other
11	Infection	Hospitalised	
5	Surgery	Hospitalised	2 CABGs, 1 TAVI, 1 laparotomy, 1 AV fistula
4	CHF	Hospitalised	
2	Initiation of HD	Hospitalised	1 case of uremic pericarditis
4	Unknown	Hospitalised	1 case of stroke, 1 case of amaurosis fugax, 1 case of acute vertigo, 1 case of pemphigoid
4	Unknown	Outpatient	Asymptomatic episodes of AF
3	Unknown	Outpatient	Symptomatic episodes of lone AF + ED contact

Table 6. Predisposing circumstances at the time of detection of the new-onset AF episodes.

CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting; TAVI = transcatheter aortic valve implantation; AV fistula = arteriovenous fistula; CHF = congestive heart failure; HD = hemodialysis; AF = atrial fibrillation; ED = emergency department. Previously unpublished data.

6.5 Limitations and Strengths of the Study

Our study has some limitations. As with other observational studies, the determination of causality is not possible in the same manner as in randomized controlled trials. However, its prospective design is one of our study's strengths.

A study population of a minimum of 200 participants was targeted in the beginning of the recruitment, but no power calculations were performed. The study may be underpowered for some of the analyses made. The sample size was relatively small, but study patients were under vigorous follow-up and the data quality were high. The CADKID study is a single-centre study, which may affect the generalisability of our results.

Selection bias may affect the results in the HRQoL studies (Study I and Study II). HRQoL data were unavailable in 33% of the patients in study I, and the respondents were older and their eGFR was slightly lower than that of the participants with no HRQoL data available.

The number of respondents was lower in the longitudinal HRQoL study (Study II), but this was mainly due to mortality during follow-up. The HRQoL instrument used had more items than other widely used instruments. The KDQOL-SF provided versatile data on different aspects of HRQoL, including both generic and kidney disease-specific data. However, it may have affected the response rate negatively considering the amount of time needed to complete the questionnaire. Longitudinal HRQoL data, allowing patients to serve as their own controls, is a rare feature among studies concerning CKD patients, and having longitudinal echocardiographic data makes our study unique. The time between HRQoL assessments in the KTx group was 41 months, longer than in other groups. Successful transplantation possibly affected the patients' adherence to the study protocol. However, we believe that the results depict the true effect of KTx on HRQoL, considering our results are in line with a study using the same HRQoL instrument longitudinally in patients advancing from dialysis to KTx.(182) Furthermore, HRQoL was assessed a minimum of 7 months after KTx. This should reflect the true effect of KTx on HRQoL better than assessing HRQoL in the immediate post-operative period when recovery from the operation continues and the immunosuppressive medication dosage is high, possibly inflicting more side effects. Due to the limited number of participants, we could not analyse ICHD and HHD patients separately, although HHD patients' HRQoL is expected to be better. Similarly, comparing transplant waitlisted dialysis patients to transplanted patients was not possible due to sample size.

Among study III's strengths is the wide variety of methods used to assess the cardiovascular morbidity in the study cohort, but peak oxygen uptake, a measure associated with mortality in CKD (144), was not measured. However, we believe that Wmax reflects the true exercise capacity in our cohort, because the results are in line with a previous study among dialysis patients.(209) Vascular ultrasound data were missing in about one quarter of our cohort. This may have weakened the associations between cIMT, fIMT as well as FMD and mortality. The association between cIMT and mortality remained unclear. Additional data could have clarified the significance of this association.

A more accurate measure of left atrial size, LAVI, a body surface area corrected volume measure, was used in study IV, instead of the left atrial diameter. LAVI was assessed afterwards using ultrasound images saved on a hard disk drive. This led to missing data in 41 study subjects. However, data were missing completely at random, allowing the use of the complete case approach. Thus, it is likely that statistical power was reduced without causing bias to the results; therefore, we

consider our results valid. The prevalence and incidence of AF in our cohort was high. However, due to the often asymptomatic nature of AF, it is possible that true prevalence and incidence is even higher.

Table 7.	Main	results	of the	studies.
	main	roounto	01 110	otaaloo.

Study I	Association of HRQoL (PCS) with cardiac systolic function (GLS) and cardiac biomarkers (Troponin T and proBNP) Association between HRQoL (PCS) and mortality
Study II	Improvement of kidney disease-specific HRQoL after kidney transplantation but no change in most generic aspects of HRQoL Kidney transplantation improved kidney disease-specific HRQoL compared to dialysis or continued predialysis care
Study III	Cardiac biomarkers (Troponin T and proBNP), plasma albumin, stress ergometry performance, abdominal aortic calcification score and cardiac diastolic function (E/e') predict mortality
Study IV	Incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation is high Elevated Troponin T and increased left atrial volume index are associated with new-onset atrial fibrillation

HRQoL = Health-Related Quality of Life, PCS = Physical Component Summary of the Short Form 36, GLS = Global Longitudinal Strain, proBNP = N-terminal Pro-B-type Natriuretic Peptide, E/e' = Ratio Between Early Mitral Inflow Velocity and Mitral Annular Early Diastolic Velocity

7 Summary/Conclusions

This thesis aimed to elucidate the interrelations between quality of life, cardiovascular disease and mortality in patients with advanced CKD. Table 7 summarizes the studies' main results.

The association of HRQoL and mortality was further corroborated in patients with advanced CKD. There was no association between kidney disease progression and HRQoL in this cohort. There is an association between systolic function of the left ventricle measured by GLS as well as cardiac biomarkers TnT and proBNP and HRQoL. The association between echocardiographic assessment of systolic function of the left ventricle and HRQoL's physical aspect is a novel but plausible finding in CKD. Comorbidities, such as AF, are associated with an inferior HRQoL.

There is a lack of studies concerning longitudinal changes of HRQoL in CKD, and follow-up from predialysis care to different RRT modalities is unique. Kidney transplantation improves HRQoL compared to both dialysis modalities and continuing in predialysis care. The significant changes are limited to kidney disease-specific domains of HRQoL. Mean plasma albumin levels are associated with HRQoL. Kidney transplantation offers the best HRQoL for eligible CKD patients requiring RRT.

Exercise performance, echocardiographic measure of cardiac diastolic dysfunction E/e', AAC score, albumin and cardiac biomarkers TnT and proBNP are associated with mortality during follow-up in the advanced CKD population. These readily available markers can be used to assess patients' prognosis, and they may be helpful in guiding personalised treatment.

AF is associated with morbidity and mortality as well as an inferior HRQoL in CKD patients. The prevalence and incidence of AF is remarkably high in the advanced CKD population. The combination of increased LAVI and elevated TnT help to recognize patients most at risk of developing AF.

Cardiovascular disease, mortality and HRQoL are closely associated in CKD. Patients are able to assess their own mortality risk and convey the information to healthcare professionals by completing HRQoL questionnaires. Exercise performance, aortic calcifications, cardiac biomarkers and echocardiographic measures predict mortality; the latter two also predict the occurrence of AF. Therefore, the use of PROMs and other aforementioned tools in clinical practice may help us reach the ultimate goal of improving CKD patients' HRQoL and prognosis.

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Kidney Centre, Turku University Hospital. The study was financially supported by the Finnish Kidney Foundation, Finska Läkaresällskapet, the Perklén Foundation, Aarne Koskelo Foundation, the Orion Research Foundation and the Turku University Hospital Foundation.

My deepest gratitude goes to my supervisors, Docent Kaj Metsärinne and Docent Mikko Järvisalo. When in doubt, I always received help and an encouraging word from Kajus. Your experience in the field of nephrology is impressive and your positive attitude towards research has made this thesis possible. One could not imagine a better boss. Mikko always provided prompt answers to all imaginable questions concerning research and writing. You are a quick-witted scientist and I value your friendship.

I wish to thank Professor Markus Juonala for the research-friendly environment in the Department of Medicine, University of Turku and for humorous comments. I am very grateful to the reviewers of this thesis, Docent Fernanda Ortiz and Docent Pauli Karhapää. Your valuable comments helped me to improve this thesis. I am grateful to Professor Patrik Finne for accepting the invitation to act as my opponent in the dissertation defence. I also thank Docent Heikki Ukkonen for his contribution in the supervisory committee of this thesis and Professor Ilkka Kantola for his support.

I am extremely grateful to all my co-authors for important contributions in this study. I am especially grateful to Roosa Lankinen, MD, PhD, for her kindness, essential contribution in data collection and for conversations that helped me push forward. I would like to extend my sincere thanks to Docent Tapio Hellman for his expertise and support. Without your collaboration, this thesis would not have been possible. I want to thank Docent Niina Koivuviita for her input in the study, encouragement and determined attitude, which guided me forward. Jussi Pärkkä, MD, is acknowledged not only for performing and analysing stress echocardiography studies, but also for teaching me patiently, how to analyse echocardiography images to obtain GLS values and for the cover image. I also wish to thank Docent Maria Saarenhovi, Petri Kallio, MD and Andrea Kozak-Barany, MD, PhD, for performing and analysing stress echocardiography studies. MSc

Acknowledgements

Noora Kartiosuo and Professor Olli T. Raitakari are acknowledged for their assistance with the statistical analyses. I am grateful to Professor Juhani Airaksinen and Docent Tuomas Kiviniemi for their collaboration in the study.

Study nurse Senni Kiukainen and all the nurses of the predialysis outpatient clinic are acknowledged for their important input in coordinating the study and ward clerk Sirpa Huhtaniemi for help with practical issues.

Special thanks to all my colleagues in the Kidney Centre for creating a pleasant working environment and also for recruiting study patients. Especially I want to thank Louise Aaltonen for encouragement and support, Maija Heiro for a wonderful sense of humour and Jonna Virtanen for pleasant conversations. Sharing an office with you is a joy and your support and positivity is greatly appreciated. I am also grateful to Johanna Päivärinta and Outi Leinonen for their friendship and support. I express my gratitude to Professor Risto Tertti for inviting me to the world of nephrology and for his interest in my research. Docent Maarit Wuorela is acknowledged for her support.

I would like to acknowledge the whole staff of the Kidney Centre for taking care of our patients and for a positive attitude towards the study. I sincerely thank all the study patients for voluntarily sacrificing their time and participating in the study.

I express my gratitude to my family and friends for their unconditional support. My parents, Tarja and Tapio, thank you for raising me into the person I am today, and for all your love and support. Maria, Basse and Frida, thank you for bringing more joy to my life.

Many thanks to my stepson, Veikka, for interesting conversations about video games and allowing me peace and quiet for working with this thesis, by taking care of your sister.

Finally, I would like to thank my beloved wife Helena for always being there for me, for being the loving and caring person you are, and for patiently taking care of our family, while I was working with this thesis. My brilliant daughter Vilja, your love and tight hugs give me strength. You give meaning to my life. I love you more than anything.

> Turku, November 2022 Markus Hakamäki

References

- Hill NR, Fatoba ST, Oke JL, Hirst JA, O'Callaghan CA, Lasserson DS, et al. Global prevalence of chronic kidney disease - A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(7): e0158765.
- Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Sarnak MJ. Clinical epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis. Am J Kidney Dis. 1998;32(5 Suppl 3):S112-9
- 3. Matsushita K, van der Velde M, Astor BC, Woodward M, Levey AS, de Jong PE, et al. Association of estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in general population cohorts: a collaborative meta-analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9731):2073–81.
- Perlman RL, Finkelstein FO, Liu L, Roys E, Kiser M, Eisele G, et al. Quality of life in Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD): A cross-sectional analysis in the Renal Research Institute-CKD study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005;45(4):658–66.
- Porter A, Fischer MJ, Brooks D, Bruce M, Charleston J, Cleveland WH, et al. Quality of life and psychosocial factors in African Americans with hypertensive chronic kidney disease. Transl Res. 2012;159(1):4–11.
- Chow FY, Briganti EM, Kerr PG, Chadban SJ, Zimmet PZ, Atkins RC. Health-related quality of life in Australian adults with renal insufficiency: a population-based study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003;41(3):596–604.
- KDIGO CKD-MBD Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis, evaluation, prevention, and treatment of chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD). Kidney Int Suppl. 2009;(113):S1–130.
- 8. Lanzer P, Boehm M, Sorribas V, Thiriet M, Janzen J, Zeller T, et al. Medial vascular calcification revisited: Review and perspectives. Eur Heart J. 2014;35(23):1515–25.
- 9. Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Harnett JD, Kent GM, Murray DC, Barre PE. The impact of anemia on cardiomyopathy, morbidity, and mortality in end-stage renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis. 1996;28(1):53–61.
- 10. Akchurin OM, Kaskel F. Update on inflammation in chronic kidney disease. Blood Purif. 2015;39(1-3):84-92.
- 11. Pun PH, Smarz TR, Honeycutt EF, Shaw LK, Al-Khatib SM, Middleton JP. Chronic kidney disease is associated with increased risk of sudden cardiac death among patients with coronary artery disease. Kidney Int. 2009;76(6):652–8.
- 12. Mapes DL, Lopes AA, Satayathum S, McCullough KP, Goodkin DA, Locatelli F, et al. Healthrelated quality of life as a predictor of mortality and hospitalization: The dialysis outcomes and practice patterns study (DOPPS). Kidney Int. 2003;64(1):339–49.
- Tsai YC, Hung CC, Hwang SJ, Wang SL, Hsiao SM, Lin MY, et al. Quality of life predicts risks of end-stage renal disease and mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(5):1621–6.
- 14. Porter AC, Lash JP, Xie D, Pan Q, Deluca J, Kanthety R, et al. Predictors and outcomes of healthrelated quality of life in adults with CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;11(7):1154–62.

- 15. KDIGO CKD Work Group. KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney Int Suppl. 2013;3(1):1–150.
- Delgado C, Baweja M, Crews DC, Eneanya ND, Gadegbeku CA, Inker LA, et al. A Unifying Approach for GFR Estimation: Recommendations of the NKF-ASN Task Force on Reassessing the Inclusion of Race in Diagnosing Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2021;32(12):2994-3015.
- Coresh J, Selvin E, Stevens LA, Manzi J, Kusek JW, Eggers P, et al. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in the United States. J Am Med Assoc. 2007;298(17):2038–47.
- Brück K, Stel VS, Gambaro G, Hallan S, Völzke H, Ärnlöv J, et al. CKD prevalence varies across the European general population. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27(7):2135–47.
- Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu C. Chronic Kidney Disease and the Risks of Death, Cardiovascular Events, and Hospitalization. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(13):1296–305.
- Muntner P, He J, Hamm L, Loria C, Whelton PK. Renal insufficiency and subsequent death resulting from cardiovascular disease in the United States. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13(3):745– 53.
- Anavekar NS, McMurray JJV, Velazquez EJ, Solomon SD, Kober L, Rouleau J-L, et al. Relation between Renal Dysfunction and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(13):1285–95.
- 22. Wen CP, Cheng TYD, Tsai MK, Chang YC, Chan HT, Tsai SP, et al. All-cause mortality attributable to chronic kidney disease: a prospective cohort study based on 462 293 adults in Taiwan. Lancet. 2008;371(9631):2173–82.
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, James MT, Klarenbach SW, Manns BJ, Ravani P, et al. A population-based cohort study defines prognoses in severe chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2018;93(5):1217– 26.
- 24. Landray MJ, Emberson JR, Blackwell L, Dasgupta T, Zakeri R, Morgan MD, et al. Prediction of ESRD and death among people with CKD: The chronic renal impairment in Birmingham (CRIB) prospective cohort study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2010;56(6):1082–94.
- 25. Thompson S, James M, Wiebe N, Hemmelgarn B, Manns B, Klarenbach S, et al. Cause of death in patients with reduced kidney function. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26(10):2504–11.
- 26. Mok Y, Matsushita K, Sang Y, Ballew SH, Grams M, Shin SY, et al. Association of kidney disease measures with cause-specific mortality: The Korean Heart Study. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0153429.
- 27. Nagai K, Yamagata K, Iseki K, Moriyama T, Tsuruya K, Fujimoto S, et al. Cause-specific mortality in the general population with transient dipstick-proteinuria. PLoS One. 2019;14(10):e0223005.
- Navaneethan SD, Schold JD, Jolly SE, Arrigain S, Blum MF, Winkelmayer WC, et al. Blood pressure parameters are associated with all-cause and cause-specific mortality in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2017;92(5):1272–81.
- 29. Airy M, Schold JD, Jolly SE, Arrigain S, Bansal N, Winkelmayer WC, et al. Cause-Specific Mortality in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease and Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Nephrol. 2018;48(1):36–45.
- 30. Finnish Registry for Kidney Diseases. Finnish Registry for Kidney Diseases, Report 2018. Helsinki, Finland; 2020.
- Kottgen A, Russell SD, Loehr LR, Crainiceanu CM, Rosamond WD, Chang PP, et al. Reduced kidney function as a risk factor for incident heart failure: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;18(4):1307–15.
- 32. Bansal N, Katz R, Robinson-Cohen C, Odden MC, Dalrymple L, Shlipak MG, et al. Absolute rates of heart failure, coronary heart disease, and stroke in chronic kidney disease: An analysis of 3 community-based cohort studies. JAMA Cardiol. 2017;2(3):314–8.

- Abramson JL, Jurkovitz CT, Vaccarino V, Weintraub WS, McClellan W. Chronic kidney disease, anemia, and incident stroke in a middle-aged, community-based population: The ARIC Study. Kidney Int. 2003;64(2):610–5.
- 34. Wang HH, Hung SY, Sung JM, Hung KY, Wang JD. Risk of stroke in long-term dialysis patients compared with the general population. Am J Kidney Dis. 2014;63(4):604–11.
- 35. Lee M, Saver JL, Chang KH, Liao HW, Chang SC, Ovbiagele B. Low glomerular filtration rate and risk of stroke: Meta-analysis. BMJ. 2010;341:c4249.
- 36. Madison JR, Spies C, Schatz IJ, Masaki K, Chen R, Yano K, et al. Proteinuria and risk for stroke and coronary heart disease during 27 years of follow-up: The Honolulu Heart Program. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(8):884–9.
- Yuyun MF, Khaw K -T, Luben R, Welch A, Bingham S, Day NE, et al. Microalbuminuria and stroke in a British population: The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer in Norfolk (EPIC-Norfolk) population study. J Intern Med. 2004;255(2):247–56.
- Selvin E, Erlinger TP. Prevalence of and risk factors for peripheral arterial disease in the United States: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2000. Circulation. 2004;110(6):738–43.
- O'Hare AM, Glidden D V., Fox CS, Hsu CY. High Prevalence of Peripheral Arterial Disease in Persons with Renal Insufficiency: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2000. Circulation. 2004;109(3):320–3.
- 40. Bourrier M, Ferguson TW, Embil JM, Rigatto C, Komenda P, Tangri N. Peripheral Artery Disease: Its Adverse Consequences With and Without CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. 2020;75(5):705–12.
- Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, Yoon C, Gales B, Sider D, et al. Coronary-Artery Calcification in Young Adults with End-Stage Renal Disease Who Are Undergoing Dialysis. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(20):1478–83.
- 42. Chonchol M, Whittle J, Desbien A, Orner MB, Petersen LA, Kressin NR. Chronic kidney disease is associated with angiographic coronary artery disease. Am J Nephrol. 2008;28(2):354–60.
- 43. Zimetbaum P. Atrial Fibrillation. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(5):ITC33-48.
- 44. Heeringa J, Van Der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Kors JA, Van Herpen G, Stricker BHC, et al. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: The Rotterdam study. Eur Heart J. 2006;27(8):949–53.
- 45. Wilke T, Groth A, Mueller S, Pfannkuche M, Verheyen F, Linder R, et al. Incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation: An analysis based on 8.3 million patients. Europace. 2013;15(4):486–93.
- 46. Wang L, Ze F, Li J, Mi L, Han B, Niu H, et al. Trends of global burden of atrial fibrillation/flutter from Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Heart. 2021;107(11):881–7.
- 47. Alonso A, Lopez FL, Matsushita K, Loehr LR, Agarwal SK, Chen LY, et al. Chronic kidney disease is associated with the incidence of atrial fibrillation: The atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) Study. Circulation. 2011;123(25):2946–53.
- 48. Ananthapanyasut W, Napan S, Rudolph EH, Harindhanavudhi T, Ayash H, Guglielmi KE, et al. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation and its predictors in nondialysis patients with chronic kidney disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5(2):173–81.
- 49. Baber U, Howard VJ, Halperin JL, Soliman EZ, Zhang X, McClellan W, et al. Association of chronic kidney disease with atrial fibrillation among adults in the United States REasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) study. Circ Arrhythmia Electrophysiol. 2011;4(1):26–32.
- 50. Soliman EZ, Prineas RJ, Go AS, Xie D, Lash JP, Rahman M, et al. Chronic kidney disease and prevalent atrial fibrillation: The Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC). Am Heart J. 2010;159(6):1102–7.
- 51. Königsbrügge O, Posch F, Antlanger M, Kovarik J, Klauser-Braun R, Kletzmayr J, et al. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation and antithrombotic therapy in hemodialysis patients: Cross-

sectional results of the Vienna InVestigation of AtriaL fibrillation and thromboembolism in patients on HemoDIalysis (VIVALDI). PLoS One. 2017;12(1): e0169400.

- 52. Winkermayer WC, Patrick AR, Jun L, Brookhart MA, Setoguchi S. The Increasing Prevalence of Atrial Fibrillation among Hemodialysis Patients. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(2):349–57.
- Liao J-N, Chao T-F, Liu C-J, Wang K-L, Chen S-J, Lin Y-J, et al. Incidence and risk factors for new-onset atrial fibrillation among patients with end-stage renal disease undergoing renal replacement therapy. Kidney Int. 2015;87(6):1209–15.
- 54. Massicotte-Azarniouch D, Kuwornu JP, Carrero J-JJ, Lam NN, Molnar AO, Zimmerman D, et al. Incident Atrial Fibrillation and the Risk of Congestive Heart Failure, Myocardial Infarction, End-Stage Kidney Disease, and Mortality Among Patients With a Decreased Estimated GFR. Am J Kidney Dis. 2018;71(2):191–9.
- 55. Watanabe H, Watanabe T, Sasaki S, Nagai K, Roden DM, Aizawa Y. Close bidirectional relationship between chronic kidney disease and atrial fibrillation: The Niigata preventive medicine study. Am Heart J. 2009;158(4):629–36.
- Kalra PA, Green D, Poulikakos D. Arrhythmia in hemodialysis patients and its relation to sudden death. Kidney Int. 2018;93(4):781-3.
- 57. Wong MCG, Kalman JM, Pedagogos E, Toussaint N, Vohra JK, Sparks PB, et al. Bradycardia and asystole is the predominant mechanism of sudden cardiac death in patients with chronic kidney disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65(12):1263-65.
- Roy-Chaudhury P, Tumlin JA, Koplan BA, Costea AI, Kher V, Williamson D, et al. Primary outcomes of the Monitoring in Dialysis Study indicate that clinically significant arrhythmias are common in hemodialysis patients and related to dialytic cycle. Kidney Int. 2018;93(4):941–51.
- 59. Jankowski J, Floege J, Fliser D, Böhm M, Marx N. Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease: Pathophysiological Insights and Therapeutic Options. Circulation. 2021;1157–72.
- 60. Cannata-Andía JB, Martín-Carro B, Martín-Vírgala J, Rodríguez-Carrio J, Bande-Fernández JJ, Alonso-Montes C, et al. Chronic Kidney Disease—Mineral and Bone Disorders: Pathogenesis and Management. Calcif Tissue Int. 2021;108(4):410–22.
- 61. Babitt JL, Lin HY. Mechanisms of anemia in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23(10):1631-4.
- 62. Vlagopoulos PT, Tighiouart H, Weiner DE, Griffith J, Pettitt D, Salem DN, et al. Anemia as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in diabetes: The impact of chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(11):3403–10.
- 63. Canadian Erythropoietin Study Group. Association between recombinant human erythropoietin and quality of life and exercise capacity of patients receiving haemodialysis. Br Med J. 1990;300(6724):573–8.
- 64. Drücke TB, Locatelli F, Clyne N, Eckardt K-U, Macdougall IC, Tsakiris D, et al. Normalization of Hemoglobin Level in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease and Anemia. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(20):2071–84.
- 65. Singh AK, Szczech L, Tang KL, Barnhart H, Sapp S, Wolfson M, et al. Correction of Anemia with Epoetin Alfa in Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(20):2085–98.
- Pfeffer MA, Burdmann EA, Chen C-Y, Cooper ME, de Zeeuw D, Eckardt K-U, et al. A Trial of Darbepoetin Alfa in Type 2 Diabetes and Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(21):2019–32.
- 67. Hanna RM, Ghobry L, Wassef O, Rhee CM, Kalantar-Zadeh K. A Practical Approach to Nutrition, Protein-Energy Wasting, Sarcopenia, and Cachexia in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. Blood Purif. 2020;49(1–2):202–11.
- Díaz-López A, Becerra-Tomás N, Ruiz V, Toledo E, Babio N, Corella D, et al. Effect of an Intensive Weight-Loss Lifestyle Intervention on Kidney Function: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Nephrol. 2021;52(1):45–58.
- 69. Hahn D, Hodson EM, Fouque D. Low protein diets for non-diabetic adults with chronic kidney disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020; 10(10):CD001892.

- 70. Kelly JT, Su G, Carrero J-J. Lifestyle interventions for preventing and ameliorating CKD in primary and secondary care. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2021;30(6):538–46.
- Kelly JT, Su G, Zhang L, Qin X, Marshall S, González-Ortiz A, et al. Modifiable lifestyle factors for primary prevention of CKD: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2021;32(1):239-253.
- 72. Klag MJ, Whelton PK, Randall BL, Neaton JD, Brancati FL, Ford CE, et al. Blood Pressure and End-Stage Renal Disease in Men. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(1):13–8.
- 73. Maschio G, Alberti D, Janin G, Locatelli F, Mann JFE, Motolese M, et al. Effect of the Angiotensin-Converting–Enzyme Inhibitor Benazepril on the Progression of Chronic Renal Insufficiency. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(15):939–45.
- 74. Brenner BM, Cooper ME, de Zeeuw D, Keane WF, Mitch WE, Parving HH, et al. Effects of losartan on renal and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(12):861-9.
- 75. Kent DM, Jafar TH, Hayward RA, Tighiouart H, Landa M, De Jong P, et al. Progression risk, urinary protein excretion, and treatment effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in nondiabetic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;18(6):1959–64.
- Mann JFE, Gerstein HC, Poque J, Bosch J, Yusuf S. Renal insufficiency as a predictor of cardiovascular outcomes and the impact of ramipril: The HOPE randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2001;134(8):629–36.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Blood Pressure Work Group. KDIGO 2021 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Blood Pressure in Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney Int. 2021;99(3S):S1-S87.
- 78. Cheung AK, Rahman M, Reboussin DM, Craven TE, Greene T, Kimmel PL, et al. Effects of intensive BP control in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(9):2812–23.
- 79. Palmer SC, Craig JC, Navaneethan SD, Tonelli M, Pellegrini F, Strippoli GFM. Benefits and Harms of Statin Therapy for Persons With Chronic Kidney Disease. Ann Intern Med. 2012;157:263-75.
- 80. Wanner C, Krane V, März W, Olschewski M, Mann JFE, Ruf G, et al. Atorvastatin in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Undergoing Hemodialysis. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(3):238–48.
- 81. Fellström BC, Jardine AG, Schmieder RE, Holdaas H, Bannister K, Beutler J, et al. Rosuvastatin and Cardiovascular Events in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(14):1395–407.
- Baigent C, Landray MJ, Reith C, Emberson J, Wheeler DC, Tomson C, et al. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with simvastatin plus ezetimibe in patients with chronic kidney disease (Study of Heart and Renal Protection): A randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9784):2181–92.
- 83. The DCCT/EDIC Research Group. Intensive Diabetes Therapy and Glomerular Filtration Rate in Type 1 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(25):2366–76.
- 84. The Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group. Effects of Intensive Glucose Lowering in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(24):2545–59.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Diabetes Work Group. KDIGO 2020 Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes Management in Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney Int. 2020;98(4):S1–115.
- Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, et al. Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(22):2117– 28.
- Wanner C, Inzucchi SE, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, von Eynatten M, Mattheus M, et al. Empagliflozin and Progression of Kidney Disease in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(4):323–34.

- Perkovic V, Jardine MJ, Neal B, Bompoint S, Heerspink HJL, Charytan DM, et al. Canagliflozin and Renal Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes and Nephropathy. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(24):2295– 306.
- Hahr AJ, Molitch ME. Management of Diabetes Mellitus in Patients With CKD: Core Curriculum 2022. Am J Kidney Dis. 2022;79(5):728-736.
- Kristensen SL, Rørth R, Jhund PS, Docherty KF, Sattar N, Preiss D, et al. Cardiovascular, mortality, and kidney outcomes with GLP-1 receptor agonists in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cardiovascular outcome trials. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019;7(10):776–85.
- 91. Yamada T, Wakabayashi M, Bhalla A, Chopra N, Miyashita H, Mikami T, et al. Cardiovascular and renal outcomes with SGLT-2 inhibitors versus GLP-1 receptor agonists in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20(1):1–13.
- 92. Wanner C, Heerspink HJL, Zinman B, Inzucchi SE, Koitka-Weber A, Mattheus M, et al. Empagliflozin and kidney function decline in patients with type 2 diabetes: A slope analysis from the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(11):2755–69.
- Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson B V., Correa-Rotter R, Chertow GM, Greene T, Hou F-F, et al. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(15):1436–46.
- Barrera-Chimal J, Lima-Posada I, Bakris GL, Jaisser F. Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists in diabetic kidney disease — mechanistic and therapeutic effects. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2022 Jan;18(1):56-70.
- 95. Bakris GL, Agarwal R, Anker SD, Pitt B, Ruilope LM, Rossing P, et al. Effect of Finerenone on Chronic Kidney Disease Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(23):2219–29.
- 96. Pitt B, Filippatos G, Agarwal R, Anker SD, Bakris GL, Rossing P, et al. Cardiovascular Events with Finerenone in Kidney Disease and Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2021;385(24):2252-63.
- Filippatos G, Bakris GL, Pitt B, Agarwal R, Rossing P, Ruilope LM, et al. Finerenone Reduces New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease and Type 2 Diabetes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;78(2):142–52.
- 98. Filippatos G, Anker SD, Agarwal R, Luis M, Rossing P, Bakris GL, et al. Finerenone Reduces Risk of Incident Heart Failure in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease and Type 2 Diabetes : Analyses from the FIGARO-DKD Trial. Circulation. 2022;145(6):437-47.
- 99. Raphael KL, Zhang Y, Ying J, Greene T. Prevalence of and risk factors for reduced serum bicarbonate in chronic kidney disease. Nephrology. 2014;19(10):648–54.
- Raphael KL. Metabolic Acidosis and Subclinical Metabolic Acidosis in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(2):376–82.
- 101. Di Iorio BR, Bellasi A, Raphael KL, Santoro D, Aucella F, Garofano L, et al. Treatment of metabolic acidosis with sodium bicarbonate delays progression of chronic kidney disease: the UBI Study. J Nephrol. 2019;32(6):989–1001.
- Einhorn LM, Zhan M, Hsu VD, Walker LD, Moen MF, Seliger SL, et al. The Frequency of Hyperkalemia and Its Significance in Chronic Kidney Disease. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(12):1156–62.
- Montford JR, Linas S. How dangerous is hyperkalemia? J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(11):3155– 65.
- 104. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD-MBD Update Work Group. KDIGO 2017. Clinical Practice Guideline Update for the Diagnosis, Evaluation, Prevention, and Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease — Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD). Kidney Int Suppl. 2017;7(1):1-59
- 105. Misra M. The basics of hemodialysis equipment. Hemodial Int. 2005;9(1):30-6.
- Misra M. Basic mechanisms governing solute and fluid transport in hemodialysis. Hemodial Int. 2008;12(SUPPL. 2):25–8.

- 107. Miller BW, Himmele R, Sawin DA, Kim J, Kossmann RJ. Choosing Home Hemodialysis: A Critical Review of Patient Outcomes. Blood Purif. 2018;45(1–3):224–9.
- Bitar W, Helve J, Honkanen E, Rauta V, Haapio M, Finne P. Similar survival on home haemodialysis and automated peritoneal dialysis: an inception cohort study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2022;37(8):1545-51.
- Mehrotra R, Devuyst O, Davies SJ, Johnson DW. The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27(11):3238–52.
- McDonald SP, Marshall MR, Johnson DW, Polkinghorne KR. Relationship between dialysis modality and mortality. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(1):155–63.
- 111. Heaf JG, Løkkegaard H, Madsen M. Initial survival advantage of peritoneal dialysis relative to haemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2002;17(1):112–7.
- 112. Korevaar JC, Feith GW, Dekker FW, Van Manen JG, Boeschoten EW, Bossuyt PMM, et al. Effect of starting with hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis in patients new on dialysis treatment: A randomized controlled trial. Kidney Int. 2003;64(6):2222–8.
- 113. Haapio M, Helve J, Kyllönen L, Grönhagen-Riska C, Finne P. Modality of chronic renal replacement therapy and survival-a complete cohort from Finland, 2000-2009. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(12):3072–81.
- 114. Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LYC, et al. Comparison of Mortality in All Patients on Dialysis, Patients on Dialysis Awaiting Transplantation, and Recipients of a First Cadaveric Transplant. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(23):1725–30.
- 115. Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Knoll G, Bello A, Browne S, Jadhav D, et al. Systematic review: Kidney transplantation compared with dialysis in clinically relevant outcomes. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(10):2093–109.
- 116. Kovesdy CP, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Review article: Biomarkers of clinical outcomes in advanced chronic kidney disease. Nephrology. 2009;14(4):408–15.
- 117. Sun J, Axelsson J, Machowska A, Heimbürger O, Bárány P, Lindholm B, et al. Biomarkers of cardiovascular disease and mortality risk in patients with advanced CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;11(7):1163–72.
- Menon V, Greene T, Wang X, Pereira AA, Marcovina SM, Beck GJ, et al. C-reactive protein and albumin as predictors of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2005;68(2):766–72.
- Gregg LP, Adams-Huet B, Li X, Colbert G, Jain N, de Lemos JA, et al. Effect modification of chronic kidney disease on the association of circulating and imaging cardiac biomarkers with outcomes. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(7):e005235.
- 120. Scheven L, de Jong PE, Hillege HL, Lambers Heerspink HJ, van Pelt LJ, Kootstra JE, et al. Highsensitive troponin T and N-terminal pro-B type natriuretic peptide are associated with cardiovascular events despite the cross-sectional association with albuminuria and glomerular filtration rate. Eur Heart J 2012;33(18):2272–81.
- 121. Hayashi T, Yasuda K, Kimura T, Sasaki K, Shimada K, Hashimoto N, et al. Prognostic significance of asymptomatic brain natriuretic peptide elevation at nephrology referral in patients with chronic kidney disease. Am J Nephrol. 2018;48(3):205–13.
- 122. Wang K, Zelnick LR, Anderson A, Cohen J, Dobre M, Deo R, et al. Cardiac Biomarkers and Risk of Mortality in CKD (the CRIC Study). Kidney Int Rep. 2020;5(11):2002–12.
- 123. Stein NR, Zelnick LR, Anderson AH, Christenson RH, deFilippi CR, Deo R, et al. Associations Between Cardiac Biomarkers and Cardiac Structure and Function in CKD. Kidney Int Rep. 2020;5(7):1052–60.
- 124. Williams CE, Curtis BM, Randell EW, Foley RN, Parfrey PS. Cardiac Biomarkers and Health-Related Quality of Life in New Hemodialysis Patients without Symptomatic Cardiac Disease. Can J Kidney Health Dis. 2014;1:16.

- 125. Janus SE, Hajjari J, Al-Kindi S. High-sensitivity troponin and the risk of atrial fibrillation in chronic kidney disease: Results from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study. Heart Rhythm. 2020;17(2):190–4.
- Kauppila LI, Polak JF, Cupples LA, Hannan MT, Kiel DP, Wilson PWF. New indices to classify location, severity and progression of calcific lesions in the abdominal aorta: a 25-year follow-up study. Atherosclerosis. 1997;132(2):245–50.
- 127. Wilson PWF, Kauppila LI, O'Donnell CJ, Kiel DP, Hannan M, Polak JM, et al. Abdominal aortic calcific deposits are an important predictor of vascular morbidity and mortality. Circulation. 2001;103(11):1529–34.
- 128. Lewis JR, Schousboe JT, Lim WH, Wong G, Wilson KE, Zhu K, et al. Long-Term Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease Risk and Prognosis in Elderly Women With Abdominal Aortic Calcification on Lateral Spine Images Captured During Bone Density Testing: A Prospective Study. J Bone Miner Res. 2018;33(6):1001–10.
- 129. Biyik Z, Selcuk NY, Tonbul HZ, Anil M, Uyar M. Assessment of abdominal aortic calcification at different stages of chronic kidney disease. Int Urol Nephrol. 2016;48(12):2061–8.
- 130. Yamamoto D, Suzuki S, Ishii H, Hirayama K, Harada K, Aoki T, et al. Predictors of abdominal aortic calcification progression in patients with chronic kidney disease without hemodialysis. Atherosclerosis. 2016;253:15–21.
- 131. Peeters MJ, van den Brand JA, van Zuilen AD, Koster Y, Bots ML, Vervloet MG, et al. Abdominal aortic calcification in patients with CKD. J Nephrol. 2017;30(1):109–18.
- 132. Noordzij M, Cranenburg EM, Engelsman LF, Hermans MM, Boeschoten EW, Brandenburg VM, et al. Progression of aortic calcification is associated with disorders of mineral metabolism and mortality in chronic dialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2011;26(5):1662–9.
- Niu Q, Hong Y, Lee CH, Men C, Zhao H, Zuo L. Abdominal aortic calcification can predict allcause mortality and CV events in dialysis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13(9):e0204526.
- 134. Polak JF, Pencina MJ, Pencina KM, O'Donnell CJ, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB. Carotid-Wall Intima–Media Thickness and Cardiovascular Events. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(3):213–21.
- Zanoli L, Empana JP, Perier MC, Alivon M, Ketthab H, Castellino P, et al. Increased carotid stiffness and remodelling at early stages of chronic kidney disease. J Hypertens. 2019;37(6):1176–82.
- 136. Kouis P, Kousios A, Kanari A, Kleopa D, Papatheodorou SI, Panayiotou AG. Association of non-invasive measures of subclinical atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness with mortality and major cardiovascular events in chronic kidney disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Clin Kidney J. 2020;13(5):842–54.
- 137. Zoungas S, Cameron JD, Kerr PG, Wolfe R, Muske C, McNeil JJ, et al. Association of Carotid Intima-Medial Thickness and Indices of Arterial Stiffness With Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes in CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. 2007;50(4):622–30.
- 138. Kocyigit D, Gurses KM, Taydas O, Poker A, Ozer N, Hazirolan T, et al. Role of femoral artery ultrasound imaging in cardiovascular event risk prediction in a primary prevention cohort at a medium-term follow-up. J Cardiol. 2020;75(5):537–43.
- 139. Ito H, Nakashima M, Meguro K, Furukawa H, Yamashita H, Takaki A, et al. Flow mediated dilatation is reduced with the progressive stages of glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria in type 2 diabetic patients without coronary heart disease. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:728127.
- 140. Yilmaz MI, Stenvinkel P, Sonmez A, Saglam M, Yaman H, Kilic S, et al. Vascular health, systemic inflammation and progressive reduction in kidney function; Clinical determinants and impact on cardiovascular outcomes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2011;26(11):3537–43.
- 141. Adachi H. Cardiopulmonary exercise test: The most powerful tool to detect hidden pathophysiology. Int Heart J. 2017;58(5):654-65.

- 142. Roshanravan B, Robinson-Cohen C, Patel K V., Ayers E, Littman AJ, De Boer IH, et al. Association between physical performance and all-cause mortality in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;24(5):822–30.
- 143. Sietsema KE, Amato A, Adler SG, Brass EP. Exercise capacity as a predictor of survival among ambulatory patients with end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int. 2004;65(2):719–24.
- 144. Ting SMS, Iqbal H, Kanji H, Hamborg T, Aldridge N, Krishnan N, et al. Functional cardiovascular reserve predicts survival pre-kidney and post-kidney transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25(1):187–95.
- 145. Rogan A, McCarthy K, McGregor G, Hamborg T, Evans G, Hewins S, et al. Quality of life measures predict cardiovascular health and physical performance in chronic renal failure patients. PLoS One. 2017;12(9):e0183926.
- 146. Painter P, Moore G, Carlson L, Paul S, Myll J, Phillips W, et al. Effects of exercise training plus normalization of hematocrit on exercise capacity and health-related quality of life. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002;39(2):257–65.
- Park M, Hsu CY, Li Y, Mishra RK, Keane M, Rosas SE, et al. Associations between kidney function and subclinical cardiac abnormalities in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23(10):1725– 34.
- 148. Bansal N, Keane M, Delafontaine P, Dries D, Foster E, Gadegbeku CA, et al. A longitudinal study of left ventricular function and structure from CKD to ESRD: The CRIC study. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;8(3):355–62.
- 149. Sulemane S, Panoulas VF, Nihoyannopoulos P. Echocardiographic assessment in patients with chronic kidney disease: Current update. Echocardiography. 2017;34(4):594–602.
- 150. Kadappu KK, Abhayaratna K, Boyd A, French JK, Xuan W, Abhayaratna W, et al. Independent Echocardiographic Markers of Cardiovascular Involvement in Chronic Kidney Disease: The Value of Left Atrial Function and Volume. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2016;29(4):359–67.
- 151. Abuhasira R, Mizrakli Y, Shimony A, Novack V, Shnaider A, Haviv YS. Atrial Fibrillation Characteristics in Patients on Haemodialysis vs. Peritoneal Dialysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):2976.
- 152. Krishnasamy R, Isbel NM, Hawley CM, Pascoe EM, Leano R, Haluska BA, et al. The association between left ventricular global longitudinal strain, renal impairment and all-cause mortality. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(6):1218–25.
- 153. Krishnasamy R, Hawley CM, Stanton T, Howden EJ, Beetham KS, Strand H, et al. Association between left ventricular global longitudinal strain, health-related quality of life and functional capacity in chronic kidney disease patients with preserved ejection fraction. Nephrology. 2016;21(2):108–15.
- 154. Sharma R, Pellerin D, Gaze DC, Mehta RL, Gregson H, Streather CP, et al. Mitral peak Doppler E-wave to peak mitral annulus velocity ratio is an accurate estimate of left ventricular filling pressure and predicts mortality in end-stage renal disease. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2006;19(3):266–73.
- 155. Kim MK, Kim B, Lee JY, Kim JS, Han B-G, Choi SO, et al. Tissue Doppler-derived E/e' ratio as a parameter for assessing diastolic heart failure and as a predictor of mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease. Korean J Intern Med. 2013;28(1):35–44.
- Dohi K. Echocardiographic assessment of cardiac structure and function in chronic renal disease. J Echocardiogr. 2019;17(3):115–22.
- 157. Karimi M, Brazier J. Health, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Quality of Life: What is the Difference? Pharmacoeconomics. 2016;34(7):645–9.
- 158. Chuasuwan A, Chuasuwan A, Pooripussarakul S, Thakkinstian A, Ingsathit A, Ingsathit A, et al. Comparisons of quality of life between patients underwent peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):191.
- 159. Aiyegbusi OL, Kyte D, Cockwell P, Marshall T, Gheorghe A, Keeley T, et al. Measurement properties of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) used in adult patients with chronic kidney disease: A systematic review. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(6):e0179733.

- 160. Unruh M, Benz R, Greene T, Yan G, Beddhu S, Devita M, et al. Effects of hemodialysis dose and membrane flux on health-related quality of life in the HEMO Study. Kidney Int. 2004;66(1):355–66.
- Walters BAJJ, Hays RD, Spritzer KL, Fridman M, Carter WB. Health-related quality of life, depressive symptoms, anemia, and malnutrition at hemodialysis initiation. Am J kidney Dis. 2002;40(6):1185–94.
- Wyld MLR, Morton RL, Clayton P, Wong MG, Jardine M, Polkinghorne K, et al. The impact of progressive chronic kidney disease on health-related quality-of-life: a 12-year community cohort study. Qual Life Res. 2019;28(8):2081–90.
- 163. Pagels AA, Söderkvist BK, Medin C, Hylander B, Heiwe S. Health-related quality of life in different stages of chronic kidney disease and at initiation of dialysis treatment. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2012;10(1):71.
- 164. Mujais SK, Story K, Brouillette J, Takano T, Soroka S, Franek C, et al. Health-related Quality of Life in CKD Patients: Correlates and Evolution over Time. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;4(8):1293–301.
- 165. Faulhaber L, Herget-Rosenthal S, Jacobs H, Hoffmann F. Health-Related Quality of Life according to Renal Function: Results from a Nationwide Health Interview and Examination Survey. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2022;47(1):13-22.
- 166. Peng Z, Wang J, Yuan Q, Xiao X, Xu H, Xie Y, et al. Clinical features and CKD-related quality of life in patients with CKD G3a and CKD G3b in China: Results from the Chinese Cohort Study of Chronic Kidney Disease (C-STRIDE). BMC Nephrol. 2017;18(1):311.
- 167. Ortiz F, Aronen P, Koskinen PK, Malmström RK, Finne P, Honkanen EO, et al. Health-related quality of life after kidney transplantation: who benefits the most? Transpl Int. 2014;27(11):1143–51.
- Maglakelidze N, Pantsulaia T, Tchokhonelidze I, Managadze L, Chkhotua A. Assessment of health-related quality of life in renal transplant recipients and dialysis patients. Transplant Proc. 2011;43(1):376–9.
- Jofré R, López-Gómez JM, Moreno F, Sanz-Guajardo D, Valderrábano F. Changes in quality of life after renal transplantation. Am J Kidney Dis. 1998;32(1):93–100.
- 170. Aggarwal HK, Jain D, Pawar S, Yadav RK. Health-related quality of life in different stages of chronic kidney disease. QJM. 2016;109(11):711–6.
- 171. Zimbudzi E, Lo C, Ranasinha S, Gallagher M, Fulcher G, Kerr PG, et al. Predictors of healthrelated quality of life in patients with co-morbid diabetes and chronic kidney disease. PLoS One. 2016;11(12):e0168491.
- 172. Hyun YY, Lee KB, Chung W, Kim YS, Han SH, Oh YK, et al. Body Mass Index, waist circumference, and health-related quality of life in adults with chronic kidney disease. Qual Life Res. 2019;28(4):1075–83.
- 173. Thrall G, Lane D, Carroll D, Lip GYH. Quality of Life in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: A Systematic Review. Am J Med. 2006;119(5):448.e1-19.
- 174. Lemos CF, Rodrigues MP, Veiga JRP. Family income is associated with quality of life in patients with chronic kidney disease in the pre-dialysis phase: A cross sectional study. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015;13(1):202.
- 175. Molsted S, Wendelboe S, Flege MM, Eidemak I. The impact of marital and socioeconomic status on quality of life and physical activity in patients with chronic kidney disease. Int Urol Nephrol. 2021;53(12):2577–82.
- 176. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kopple JD, Block G, Humphreys MH. Association among SF36 quality of life measures and nutrition, hospitalization, and mortality in hemodialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2001;12(12):2797–806.
- 177. Kim JH, Han JM, Kim H, Lee KB, Chung W, Kim YS, et al. Low serum adiponectin level is associated with better physical health-related quality of life in chronic kidney disease. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):10928.

- 178. Buur LE, Madsen JK, Eidemak I, Krarup E, Lauridsen TG, Taasti LH, et al. Does conservative kidney management offer a quantity or quality of life benefit compared to dialysis? A systematic review. BMC Nephrol. 2021;22(1):307.
- 179. Brown EA, Zhao J, McCullough K, Fuller DS, Figueiredo AE, Bieber B, et al. Burden of Kidney Disease, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Employment Among Patients Receiving Peritoneal Dialysis and In-Center Hemodialysis: Findings From the DOPPS Program. Am J Kidney Dis. 2021;78(4):489-500.e1.
- Zazzeroni L, Pasquinelli G, Nanni E, Cremonini V, Rubbi I. Comparison of Quality of Life in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2017;42(4):717–27.
- 181. Jansz TT, Bonenkamp AA, Boereboom FTJ, Van Reekum FE, Verhaar MC, Van Jaarsveld BC. Health-related quality of life compared between kidney transplantation and nocturnal hemodialysis. PLoS One. 2018;13(9):e0204405.
- 182. Von Der Lippe N, Waldum B, Brekke FB, Amro AAG, Reisæter AV, Os I. From dialysis to transplantation: A 5-year longitudinal study on self-reported quality of life. BMC Nephrol. 2014;15(1):191.
- 183. Ryu JH, Koo TY, Ro H, Cho JH, Kim MG, Huh KH, et al. Better health-related quality of life in kidney transplant patients compared to chronic kidney disease patients with similar renal function. PLoS One. 2021;16(10):e0257981.
- 184. Pei M, Aguiar R, Pagels AA, Heimbürger O, Stenvinkel P, Bárány P, et al. Health-related quality of life as predictor of mortality in end-stage renal disease patients: An observational study. BMC Nephrol. 2019;20(1):144.
- 185. Porter A, Fischer MJ, Wang X, Brooks D, Bruce M, Charleston J, et al. Quality of life and outcomes in African Americans with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25(8):1849–55.
- 186. Jesky MD, Dutton M, Dasgupta I, Yadav P, Ng KP, Fenton A, et al. Health-related quality of life impacts mortality but not progression to end-stage renal disease in pre-dialysis chronic kidney disease: A prospective observational study. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(11):e0165675.
- 187. Grams ME, Surapaneni A, Appel LJ, Lash JP, Hsu J, Diamantidis CJ, et al. Clinical events and patient-reported outcome measures during CKD progression: Findings from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2021;36(9):1685–93.
- 188. Cheema BSB, Fiatarone Singh MA. Exercise training in patients receiving maintenance hemodialysis: A systematic review of clinical trials. Am J Nephrol. 2005;25(4):352–64.
- Rossi AP, Burris DD, Lucas FL, Crocker GA, Wasserman JC. Effects of a renal rehabilitation exercise program in patients with CKD: A randomized, controlled trial. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;9(12):2052–8.
- Arstila M, Impivaara O, Mäki J. New ergometric reference values for clinical exercise tests. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1990;50(7):747–55.
- 191. Colbert G, Jain N, De Lemos JA, Hedayati SS. Utility of traditional circulating and imagingbased cardiac biomarkers in patients with predialysis CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;10(3):515–29.
- Hays RD, Kallich JD, Mapes DL, Coons SJ, Amin N, Carter WB (1995). Kidney disease quality of life short form (KDQOL-SFTM)Version 1.3: A Manual for use and scoring. Santa Monica, Ca: RAND, P-7994.
- 193. Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status. Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. Control Clin Trials. 1989;10(4):407–15.
- 194. Leaf DE, Goldfarb DS. Interpretation and review of health-related quality of life data in CKD patients receiving treatment for anemia. Kidney Int. 2009;75(1):15–24.
- 195. Seow YY, Cheung YB, Qu LM, Yee ACP. Trajectory of quality of life for poor prognosis stage 5D chronic kidney disease with and without dialysis. Am J Nephrol. 2013;37(3):231–8.

- 196. Broers NJH, Martens RJH, Canaud B, Cornelis T, Dejagere T, Diederen NMP, et al. Healthrelated quality of life in end-stage renal disease patients: the effects of starting dialysis in the first year after the transition period. Int Urol Nephrol. 2018 Jun;50(6):1131–42.
- 197. Liu Y, Coresh J, Eustace JA, Longenecker JC, Jaar B, Fink NE, et al. Association between Cholesterol Level and Mortality in Dialysis Patients: Role of Inflammation and Malnutrition. J Am Med Assoc. 2004;291(4):451–9.
- 198. Matsushita K, Sang Y, Ballew SH, Astor BC, Hoogeveen RC, Solomon SD, et al. Cardiac and kidney markers for cardiovascular prediction in individuals with chronic kidney disease: The atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34(8):1770–7.
- 199. Chesnaye NC, Al-Sodany E, Szummer K, Barany P, Heimbürger O, Almquist T, et al. Association of Longitudinal High-Sensitivity Troponin T With Mortality in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2022;79(4):327–36.
- 200. Hsiung J-T, Kleine C-E, Naderi N, Park C, Soohoo M, Moradi H, et al. Association of Pre-End-Stage Renal Disease Serum Albumin With Post-End-Stage Renal Disease Outcomes Among Patients Transitioning to Dialysis. J Ren Nutr. 2019;29(4):310–21.
- 201. Wang L, Cheng H, Zou X, Yuan J, Wu W, Han S, et al. Prevalence and Correlates of Cardiovascular Calcification and Its Prognostic Effects Among Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: Results From the C-STRIDE Study. Front Public Health. 2022;9:762370.
- 202. Hiraki K, Yasuda T, Hotta C, Izawa KP, Morio Y, Watanabe S, et al. Decreased physical function in pre-dialysis patients with chronic kidney disease. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2013;17(2):225–31.
- 203. Nakamura K, Sasaki T, Yamamoto S, Hayashi H, Ako S, Tanaka Y. Effects of exercise on kidney and physical function in patients with non-dialysis chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):18195.
- 204. Recio-Mayoral A, Banerjee D, Streather C, Kaski JC. Endothelial dysfunction, inflammation and atherosclerosis in chronic kidney disease a cross-sectional study of predialysis, dialysis and kidney-transplantation patients. Atherosclerosis. 2011;216(2):446–51.
- 205. Hinderliter A, Padilla RL, Gillespie BW, Levin NW, Kotanko P, Kiser M, et al. Association of carotid intima-media thickness with cardiovascular risk factors and patient outcomes in advanced chronic kidney disease: The RRI-CKD study. Clin Nephrol. 2015;84(1):10–20.
- 206. Shang W, Li L, Huang S, Zeng R, Huang L, Ge S, et al. Chronic kidney disease and the risk of new- onset atrial fibrillation: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0155581.
- 207. Lubitz SA, Yin X, Rienstra M, Schnabel RB, Walkey AJ, Magnani JW, et al. Long-term outcomes of secondary atrial fibrillation in the community: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 2015;131(19):1648–55.
- 208. Buiten MS, De Bie MK, Rotmans JI, Gabreëls BA, Van Dorp W, Wolterbeek R, et al. The dialysis procedure as a trigger for atrial fibrillation: New insights in the development of atrial fibrillation in dialysis patients. Heart. 2014;100(9):685–90.
- 209. Painter P, Messer-Rehak D, Hanson P, Zimmerman SW, Glass NR. Exercise Capacity in Hemodialysis, CAPD, and Renal Transplant Patients. Nephron. 1986;42(1):47–51.



TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU

ISBN 978-951-29-9106-8 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-9107-5 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 (Print) ISSN 2343-3213 (Online)